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BUDGET PROCESS: TESTIMONY OF HON.
ROBERT H. MICHEL; FORMER SENATOR
HENRY BELLMON; AND FORMER REPRESENT-
ATIVE WILLIS D. GRADISON

TUESDAY, MARCH 30, 1993

House of Representatives,
Joint Committee on the Organization of Congress,

Washington, DC.

The committee met, pursuant to call, at 2 p.m., in Room HC-05
The Capitol, Senator David L. Boren (chairman of the committee)
presiding.
Chairman Boren. I see our lead off witness has joined us.

Mr. Leader, if you would like to join us at the witness table. I

will call the meeting to order.

OPENING STATEMENT OF HON. DAVID L. BOREN, A U.S. SENATOR
FROM THE STATE OF OKLAHOMA

Chairman Boren. Today the Joint Committee holds the last in

our series of hearings on the budget process. We have had six hear-

ings that have included testimony of Members from the various

congressional committees involved in the budget process, Senators
and representatives with proposals for reform and outside expert
witnesses. We have heard a wide range of proposals for reform
from relatively small changes in the Budget Act or chamber proce-
dure to historic changes in the process and the committee structure
of the Congress.
This afternoon we are hearing from House Minority Leader Bob

Michel, as well as from two former Members of the Congress who
were leaders in the budget process. We are pleased to have them
here with us today. We also have a prepared statement by Chair-
man of the House Rules Committee, Chairman Moakley, that will

be included in the record.

[The prepared statement of Hon. John Joseph Moakley is printed
in the Appendix.]
Chairman Boren. Our first witness today, of course, is the Mi-

nority Leader of the House, Representative Bob Michel. He has
been a Member of the House of Representatives since 1957, serving
the 18th District of Illinois. He also has been serving as the Minori-

ty Leader of the House since 1981. We were very pleased to have
him testify before us earlier on the general subject of reform in
that historic hearing where we had for the first time all of the
leaders of both Houses together in the very same day of hearings,
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and Mr. Leader, we are very appreciative that you would return
with us today to specifically talk about the budget process.

Let me say that it has been a privilege for this Senator to have
the opportunity to work with Congressman Michel on a number of

occasions. As we have said in these hearings previously, this com-
mittee is determined to come up with meaningful reform, and we
are determined to do it on a bipartisan basis. This is a mission not
for one party or the other, but it is really a mission for the coun-

try, to make this institution work better, to make the process work
better.

Let me say that in all of my dealings with the distinguished Mi-

nority Leader, that has been the spirit with which he has ap-

proached the task, and it has been a real privilege to work with

him, so Congressman Michel, we welcome you back. We would ap-

preciate any comments which you wish to make at this time.

STATEMENT OF HON. ROBERT H. MICHEL, HOUSE MINORITY
LEADER AND U.S. REPRESENTATIVE FROM THE STATE OF ILLI-

NOIS

Mr. Michel. Well, thank you, Mr. Chairman, and members of

the committee. I apologize for the fact that the leaders of both
Houses are supposed to be ex officio members of this committee
and the time requirements on our side have practically made it im-

possible for me to be the kind of attender that I would normally
have envisioned because I would have preferred to put time into

this effort than I would some of the other things that I think aren't

going hopefully as far as what I perceive for this committee, but I

would like to thank you all for the opportunity to appear before
this distinguished panel again, as the Chairman indicated, for the
second time, and discuss the budget process.

It is an arcane process to which the Congress has felt compelled
to add layer upon layer of revisions in the attempt to control our
individual spending and revenue actions. Let me provide some his-

torical perspective. Forgive me if much of what I have to say even
is familiar, but I think we have to rethink the entire process, so

let's begin at the beginning.
Before the 1974 Budget Impoundment and Control Act, the only

way to get the entire budget picture was to add up all the various

spending and revenue decisions as finalized at the beginning of a
fiscal year. The 1974 Budget Act for the first time required Con-

gress to look at the budget as a whole at the start of the congres-
sional budget cycle. That would be September 30th, October 1st of

any year. The budget resolution was to relate revenue and spend-
ing decisions and require Congress to set overall priorities.

Through a system of overall spending and revenue limits, commit-
tee allocations and points of order, these overall priorities were to

be enforced as individual spending revenue and debt measures
were acted on throughout the year in preparation of the beginning
of the new fiscal year.
Now, Congress in the mid 1980s, faced with growing deficits,

turned to an additional layer of budget enforcement procedure in

an attempt to force upon itself the discipline to bring down those
deficits. I am, of course, referring to Gramm-Rudman. Congress



first established the overall deficit targets which initially contem-

plated a balanced budget by the year 1991. Now, those deficit tar-

gets, if not met by congressional action, would have been met by an

automatic sequester, across-the-board cuts of all nonexempt pro-

grams, and the latest version of Gramm-Rudman, effective through
1995, basically provides only for categorical sequesters.
The overall deficit targets are in effect nullified because they are

adjusted every year to reflect economic and technical changes.

Now, in theory, under the current budget process, Congress has

sufficient controls over spending decisions with the budget resolu-

tion setting overall priorities, which are then enforced through
overall limits, committee allocation, and points of order, as actual

spending and revenue legislation moves through the Congress, and
the statutory debt limit provides an additional hurdle that has to

be increased when annual deficits add to the overall debt. Of

course, we are getting to that point this week.

Now, in theory the discretionary caps and pay-as-you-go rules

should provide an additional layer of control, and finally in theory,
there should be no spending that has not been authorized by law,

but in fact the existing process does not provide the control over

budgetary decisions that was originally envisioned when these vari-

ous processes were put in place. I would like to go through just a

few of the reasons why I believe the congressional budget process
has become so ineffective, and my comments are directed primarily
at the House, if you Senators will forgive me, because I know its

proceedings better than I know your body.
First, the congressional budget resolution has become a political

statement of the two parties, let's face it. There is no longer give
and take between individual Members to agree upon a budget reso-

lution that governs the individual spending and revenue bills later

in the process. Members are put in a take-it-or-leave-it position on
the resolution reported by the Budget Committee or any alterna-

tive budget proposals that are presented. The practice has further

developed that any alternatives must be in the form of complete
substitutes so there can be no cut and bite amendments to the re-

ported budget resolution on the Floor of the House, thus the denial

of the opportunity to reprioritize spending decisions in the broadest

sense.

Now, as individual spending bills move through Congress, the

House routinely waives the Budget Act points of order, and the

very tools to prevent us from violating our budget goals and our

targets. It has gotten to the point that the House Rules Committee

provides blanket waivers and doesn't bother to specify which points
of order are being violated.

During the 102nd Congress there were 78 blanket waivers and

only nine specified Budget Act waivers, so Members have no idea

exactly how many times the Budget Act was waived, and before

the 99th Congress there were very few blanket waivers of the

House rules; four in the 98th Congress, four in the 97th Congress,
and none in the 96th Congress.

Second, a factor in the inability to directly affect spending deci-

sions is the fact that what is debated is so closely controlled and

carefully structured by the Majority party. Now, obviously I am
speaking in behalf of the Minority for an extended period of time.



To date during the 103rd Congress the House has not considered a

single bill under an open rule, and those of you who sit on the
Senate side over there, with your unlimited debate time, at times
that gets to be frustrating, I guess, for some, but I will tell you, if

you get it just in reverse, like we have been forced to endure here,

particularly in this Congress, you ought to think about it seriously.
We no longer have an open process where Members can have
amendments to amendments to get an individual spending item.

Furthermore, many programs are funded which are no longer or

may never have been authorized. In the fiscal year 1993, our cur-

rent year, $31 billion in appropriations lacked specific authoriza-
tions by House authorizing committees. The structure of the budget
has changed. Today over 60 percent of the Federal budget is on
automatic pilot where unless Congress goes in and changes the un-

derlying statute of the many mandatory and entitlement programs,
spending will continue to grow based on new entrants and higher
costs. This is certainly the case for health care spending, which we
are all going to have to deal with probably before too long.

Recently we have also seen the discretionary spending caps and
pay-as-you-go rules overridden by just declaring additional spend-
ing as an emergency—that is our escape hatch—although many
Members will dispute whether this new spending is in response to

an actual emergency. The bottom line is that any control that Con-

gress has imposed upon itself by law or rule can be changed or
waived by subsequent congressional action, and I guess that is nat-

ural. As a matter of fact, in the House we always say, you know, it

is a two-year stint, and each Congress renews itself, but I believe

the time has come where we must step back, look at the big pic-
ture. I guess that is why I am advocating the passage of a balanced

budget constitutional amendment.
The States ought to consider this proposition. That opens it up to

a dialogue out among the American citizens at a much more local

level, gets them more involved in this thing, and if a balanced

budget constitutional amendment is adopted, we as lawmakers will

still have to grapple with how this broad concept will be imple-
mented through our legislative process.
Now, pointing to the chart up here, Section 1, total outlays for

any fiscal year shall not exceed total receipts for that fiscal year
unless three-fifths of the whole number of each House of Congress
shall provide by law for a specific excess of outlays over receipts by
a roll call vote. Then, Section 2, the limit on the debt of the United
States held by the public shall not be increased unless three-fifths

of the whole number of each House shall provide by law for such
an increase by a roll call vote.

Now, there are going to have to be agreements up front by a
three-fifths vote of Congress in order for a deficit to occur in any
year. As we contemplate how Congress would operate under the re-

quirements of a balanced budget constitutional amendment, I

would advocate, I guess, a two-step procedure.
First, the President and Congress would agree on revenues and

spending and what would be an acceptable deficit. The second step
would be to divide up the pie to determine how money should be

spent or revenues raised. This procedure could be implemented in



the interim as the constitutional amendment is being debated by
the Congress and ultimately by the States.

In the first step, I would propose that this aggregate-only budget
be in the form of a joint resolution so that the Congress and the

President would have to agree on the levels, and if a deficit is con-

templated, as it may well be during the first few years, then this

joint resolution would have to be adopted by a three-fifths vote of

each House, so this difficult vote would be taken right up front.

Only then would the President, based upon these aggregates, be re-

quired to send to the Congress a detailed budget proposal, and Con-

gress would then be required to pass a congressional budget resolu-

tion.

Congressional spending priorities would be enforced through
committee allocations, reconciliation and points of order when
spending and revenue legislation is considered later in the year. In

order to streamline the process, I would support a joint House-
Senate Budget Committee with representatives from the leadership
and major committees to consider and report a budget resolution. I

would also support a two-year budget cycle for my two-step process,
the aggregate budget and budget resolution establishing the spend-

ing priorities.
I would like to see the budget resolution considered through an

open process as was the case in the late 1970s. I would like to see a
more open process in the consideration of the various individual

spending measures so that Members can reprioritize or cut spend-

ing. Ideally I would like to have separate votes on attempts to

waive the Budget Act.

As a former appropriator, I was on the committee there for 20

some years, I have seen the ability of Members to impact spending
in appropriation bills severely limited and I would like to make
two specific recommendations in that regard.

First, amendments providing limitations on appropriation bills

should be permitted if they have been introduced in bill form with
at least 50 cosponsors. Now, we didn't even require that at all in

my earlier days. My goodness, it came, appropriation bills came
under open rules. You could move to strike the last word, and
make your case. If it rose—it either lived or died depending upon
the vote of the Members. Limitations restrict the way in which
funds are spent and are an effective way to influence policy when
no other alternatives are available, particularly when the authoriz-

ing committees are failing to act.

I am reminded of the times in the House when we had to—we
would argue with the Chair whether or not it complied with what
used to be called the Holman rule, a retrenchment in spending im-

posing new obligations on the part of those who were doing that so

that it would be a definite backing away from further spending,
and it serves its purpose well in the House, but I haven't heard
that argument in the last 10, 12 years in the House of Representa-
tives. Presently the rules for all practical purposes prevent such
amendments from being offered because the motion to rise and
report effectively prevents anyone from offering any limitations on

appropriations.
Now, admittedly I suspect the thing got started when we went

over and over and over again particularly on right to life or abor-
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tion amendments to my old aging health education and welfare
bill. We have been dealing with that thing for 15 years or more
and I guess some of the Members just got fed up of having that. I

used to get rankled myself.
The Washington Post, here is an umpteen-billion-dollar bill and

not one word about the figures. The only story was about the dog-
gone riders and particularly the one that I alluded to, and it was
very frustrating. We got away from talking about real dollars and
cents and probably that led to the Majority then imposing the kind
of restrictions on us. The proposed change would restore the right
to offer limitation amendments if proponents can demonstrate sig-
nificant support, and that will allow the process to be opened and
at the same time foreclose frivolous time-delaying amendments.
What I am saying there, before when it was just one Member on

a whim, whatever his amendment, it could be considered. Now I

would say, well, if that is too much of a threat, well, if you can't

get 50 Members on your side for an amendment, well, you probably
don't have pretty broad gauge support, but you get 50 Members in
our caucus, that brings about a consideration of a matter in the
caucus, so that ought to be enough protection.

Secondly, amendments should be permitted if they increase

spending and are offset with comparable reductions within the
same appropriation bill. It is currently impossible for a Member to

reprioritize spending in an appropriation bill if the Member would
like to add spending to a program at the beginning of the bill and
offset that increase by a reduction in a program that appears later
in the bill. This is because the bill is usually read line by line for

amendment and if spending is added to the program at the begin-
ning of the bill without an offset, it would cause the subcommittee
allocation to be exceeded subjecting that portion of the amendment
to a point of order.

Now, you might look here, for example, in last year's VA-HUD
appropriation bill, I may have proposed an amendment to add, let's

say, $200 million down here to the veterans item medical care
which appears on page 7, and offset this additional spending by re-

ducing the space station funding by the same amount, which is par-
tially funded in the NASA research and development account on
page 75, the last chart over here, of the bill.

Since the offset does not appear until page 75 of the bill, I am
not allowed to offer such an amendment unless I received unani-
mous consent to offer it or received permission in a rule. Now, this
is because of how we consider appropriation bills along with the
subcommittee allocations that constrain spending. The final propos-
al—and incidentally, in those earlier days, you had that opportuni-
ty, but, you see, because of these layers and layers of caps sup-
posedly, we are foreclosed from having that flexibility. Before
Gramm-Rudman, before any of this artificial, I could offer a motion
and in those days you trusted your colleague, and I intend when we
get to section so-and-so on page 75 to offset that level of spending
with what I have just proposed by way of an increase, so overall
the level is the same, but that is my—under my proposal here of

having 50 advocates for it, at least give it a shot, but these—all

these layers here have brought more and more restrictions on our



being able to do what I think some of us would like to do and our

flexibility.
The final proposal that I would like to speak in favor of today is

the concept of line-item veto for both appropriations and tax bills.

Now, I have introduced bill H.R. 493 which would give the Presi-

dent authority to rescind discretionary budget authority in an ap-

propriation bill or veto any targeted tax provision in a revenue bill.

Congress would have a 20-day review period during which a disap-

proval bill could be enacted. The President should have the tool to

get at special interest provisions in both appropriations and tax

bills. It is not a panacea in the effort to reduce our Federal deficit,

but it is an effective tool that could discourage unnecessary spend-

ing or special tax provisions that also cost money.
I would like to make, Mr. Chairman, a part of the record the tes-

timony I presented before the Legislation and National Security
Subcommittee of the Government Ops Committee last March 10th

here in the House in which they had a hearing specifically on that

subject matter, and that would telescope our
Chairman Boren. Without objection that will be included in the

record.

Mr. Michel. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Again I thank you for

the opportunity to testify on the congressional budget process. I

would urge the committee to step back, take a broad view of the

process because I feel the key to making all the parts of this proc-
ess work effectively is to return to the philosophy that our forefa-

thers maintained until recently that it is wrong to borrow from
future generations really to spend now.

Furthermore, there should be a degree of fairness in the every-

day workings of this great institution so that any Member can

freely pursue efforts to amend the budget resolution and the vari-

ous spending and revenue bills considered each year.
And just summarizing briefly that statement that the Chairman

was good enough to include in the record, that on the tax bills, for

example, H.R. 11, the last one we had, 51 specific trinkets that,

frankly, amounted to more than the original purpose for which the

tax bill was introduced for aid to the cities, you know, as a result of

the Los Angeles riots. So my point is, it is a new one for me, really

prompted by that action of last year.
I have always supported a line-item veto. During the Carter

years, I advocated it, and even with those on my right, if you can

get that far right of old Bob, was that if you can't really surrender
that kind of authority to the executive branch, at least give the

chief executive the authority to reduce by some arbitrary percent-

age any line item, 10, 15, 20, 50, but in no case X it out because you
feel so strongly it has just got to be in there. But that gives the

chief executive, whomever, of whatever party, certainly much more

management and control than what we have observed here in the

last few years.
I would be happy to subject myself to questions, Mr. Chairman.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Michel is printed in the Appen-
dix.]
Chairman Boren. Well, thank you very much. You have given us

a lot to think about. I was listening and I guess considering our

rules, I didn't—I was not aware of the fact that—you mean if a
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piece of legislation is pending on the House Floor and if it indeed
violates the Budget Act or it would be alleged to violate the Budget
Act, you are not free to raise a point of order and have the parlia-
mentarian rule as to whether or not
Mr. Michel. The problem is when the Rules Committee up there

protects it from raising that point of order, we are foreclosed.

Chairman Boren. So the Rules Committee
Mr. Michel. That has been pretty much of a common practice.
Mr. Dreier. By the way, I vote against those waivers.

Chairman Boren. That really makes it impossible, then, to have
the Budget Act really enforced if it is being flaunted in that way.
What about the—in terms of appropriating or legislating on an ap-

propriations bill or passing an appropriation for a program that is

not yet authorized, has not been authorized, you cited $31 billion.

Yet Chairman Byrd, before this committee, he urged that we really
find a way to totally enforce that rule.

He said rather than—of course, he was arguing against the pro-

posal to merge authorizing and appropriating process, and he

argued that if you really enforce the rule that you could not legis-

late on an appropriations bill and you could not appropriate for

matters which were not authorized, and you could not exceed the
amount authorized. He said that if the process worked as it should,
it would really be a check and balance because the appropriating
committee would be left to either appropriate at the amount au-

thorized or a lesser amount, so that in theory if all the rules were
enforced that it should be a break on spending rather than a sort

of add-on with pork barrel projects and so on that were never au-
thorized.

Would you agree with that and would you agree with the

thought that perhaps we should require a super majority of some
kind, be it 60 percent or something else, to waive that rule and
allow—you could, I suppose, have an emergency where the author-

izing committee simply failed to function, but you would have to do
it wide open in the full House or Senate as opposed to in a commit-
tee, and you would have to do it with a super majority to waive
that rule to allow appropriations for something not authorized.
Would you support that kind of a restraint?
Mr. Michel. In that discussion that you alluded to with respect

to Senator Byrd, I think I would buy that lock, stock and barrel as
a concept, and the suggestion, then, if it is to be breached by
having a super majority, when I served on the Appropriations Com-
mittee with my friend, Dave Obey, down there, and was ranking of

my subcommittee for any number of years, I always stuck to the
rule. I have no authority to appropriate for that which I haven't

got the authority to appropriate for.

Now, you either have a rule and abide by it or you continue to

breach the rules and then we are always subject to somebody's
whim. I just believe more in establishing rules and sticking with
them so that everybody knows exactly how they can operate, and
Senators, we differ on a few things, probably the line-item veto, but
on that one I would surely have to agree with him as a general
concept. And since we refer, for example, in our balanced budget
amendment process to three-fifths, I think we ought to be talking
always about super majority is three-fifths. There are other people



who use different, but we ought to have one established figure and
stick with it.

Chairman Boren. As I understand it, we have, of course, differ-

ences in the structure of the Budget Committees of the two Houses
now. We have on the House side a rotating membership, every six

years Members rotate off which would seem to have a certain, in

some ways perhaps a good side to it in that more Members will

become familiar with the budget process.
On the Senate side we do not. We have a permanent membership

of the committee. We do not necessarily have leadership involved,

and, of course, we don't have the—we do not have the budget reso-

lution now acted upon by the President. As I understand it, you
would change the current, you would not, no longer have separate

Budget Committees. You would have a Joint Budget Committee,
and how large would that Budget Committee be and would it be

composed strictly of Chairs and Ranking Minority Members of

some of the more critical committees, or how would you do that?

Mr. Michel. I must say that I haven't really given it that much
thought on the numbers game, but—and, of course, we have a little

bit different situation, then, too, in the House than you indicated

in the Senate where we do have just this temporary membership or

at least limited to three terms. I have had some real apprehension
at times. I think there can't be any more important committee
than that which sets these overall parameters for us, and we find

ourselves appointing freshmen Members to the Budget Committee
with very little experience unless they come from the legislature or

some such thing, but we rationalize it by saying we ought to have a

good mix, we ought to have some infusion of new blood or new
ideas.

Then we also have a problem on our side particularly in the

House where you are limited to committee assignments, that a

Budget is a plum but you have got—you are building no seniority
in those three terms. When you go back to the world of reality you
are down at the bottom of the scale again so we have had to devel-

op and accommodate by putting them on another committee and
just in absentia they build up their seniority. If we are that pliable
and flexible enough to make some accommodations, I think if we
had a joint one we could do that between the two Houses.
Chairman Boren. What would be the advantage, and would you

also, by the way, have the President sign the budget resolution and

bring the President into the process?
Mr. Michel. Because I think we ought to have them—we ought

to all be in agreement or come to agreement, and the whole reason
for my initially talking about a one-two step is that the President
and the Congress have got to come to initial agreement here on
what are the parameters, and then we can rework them within the

parameters, and, of course, if the President—that gives the Presi-

dent an opportunity to veto it, too, send it back, say look, can't

quite take it like that.

Chairman Boren. So the Joint Budget Committee would report
out the budget resolution which would ultimately go to the Presi-

dent for signature. Would it then automatically go to the House
first, then follow back to the Senate?
Mr. Michel. I suspect that is right.



10

Chairman Boren. Because of the taxing matters and so on that
would be included in it.

What would be the advantage, the main advantage as you see it

of having a Joint Budget Committee as opposed to two sepa-
rate
Mr. Michel. Maybe to save some time. I don't know. I would like

to think it would save us some time or speed up the process. You
can only go so fast, but admittedly now it is brought to mind in

this year particularly, although I am really kind of surprised that
the system is moving as speedily as it is. Now, I guess the real

point is you all got control of everything, you know, Democrats
have got control of the House and the Senate and the executive

branch, and that makes for more of a kind of a team work oper-
ation, let's face it.

I was trying to figure out how much today if we were just look-

ing today, Bush would have been reelected, how much this process
might have been slowed down because of the differences that exist.

There would surely be some. I don't know how much, but we have
got to think of those different possibilities in the future because

they will recur from time to time.
Chairman Boren. You have certainly given us a lot of—I have

not gone back over some of the ground on the budget balancing
and line item and other matters because they are more familiar to

us, but you have given us a lot of very, very good ideas to reflect

upon, and we look forward, as we get into our deliberative stage,
once the hearing stage is finished, have you and the other three
leaders very much a part of the process, the deliberative process of
this committee. Let me turn now to Mr. Allard.
Mr. Allard. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. I would like

to welcome Congressman Michel here to the committee, and I was
very interested in your testimony. The years of experience that you
had here I think is very beneficial to this committee, and it is good
that we can hear from you.

I am as concerned as you are about what is happening on the
Floor of the House with the rules where we are continually re-

stricted on the amendments and debate and our voice is restricted
on the House Floor, and would you say that with all these rules
and regulations that we are skewing the process towards more
spending?
Mr. Michel. Well, I don't know if I could make that flat out

statement. I just look at the complexion of the place upstairs, and
we are sure headed that way in this year.
Mr. Michel. It doesn't have to be that way, but let's face it. It all

depends on what the philosophical bent of a majority of Members
have with respect to that issue of Federal spending.
Mr. Allard. Well, I would just like—I have limited experience,

but what I have seen has happened in the two years I have been
here. It seems like everything sort of skews toward more spending.
There are lots of individuals, both parties, on the Floor that want
to make amendments that would reduce spending, particularly this

year, and those aren't being allowed to be made on the Floor be-
cause they are afraid they are going to embarrass some Members
or it might split up one coalition or another, so I have always—just
observing this year, it seemed to me like it did have an impact on
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motions that ordinarily would come to the Floor to reduce spend-

ing.
Mr. Michel. Well, the unfortunate part about it is that, a thing I

have certainly noticed over the last—well let's say since the last

ten years particularly you get recessions, and people looking for

stimulant to prime the pump, to get people back to work, then the

pressure is brought on individual members, what are you doing in

your ombudsman role to spark up things in your district?

Now, if that is multiplied 435 times in the House and 100 times

in the Senate, you have got nothing else but increased spending. I

am reminded of how my first charge to come to Congress from the

Junior Chamber of Commerce is, Bob, we want you to go be a

spokesman for private free enterprise, reduce the cost of govern-
ment and get it off our back, and then in more recent years, my
largest news organ as a standard measurement of my effectiveness

is how deep can old Bob get his hand into the Federal till to match
those of everybody else.

As a matter of fact in an editorial, "Bob, we want you to be a

pork producer and we are not talking about the ones on the farm."

Now, when you get that kind of attitude at home, you know, on

bearing down on the individual Member of Congress and their

standard of measurement of your effectiveness is not how much
you can reduce the cost of government or downsize it, the unfortu-

nate part of it is there is just too many goodies out there that

people would like to have a little taste of, and if you can produce it

for them, you are popular, and the other way you are unpopular. It

is reduced to that unfortunately.
Mr. Allard. Well, you bring up the issue of pork barrel spend-

ing. I have been a strong advocate of constitutional line-item veto. I

thought you brought up some good points as it applies to our tax

code, too, because you can create some advantages for certain spe-
cial interests in your tax code.

Are you thinking in terms of a constitutional amendment for

both tax and appropriation line-item veto?
Mr. Michel. Well, this morning I had a rather interesting discus-

sion with our Ranking Member on Ways and Means, Bill Archer.

He suggested, you would say targeted tax items, and what is—how
do you define targeted. If it is a tax provision that affects one busi-

ness, it may affect two. Where do you draw the line?

He has got a good point, and maybe we want to think in terms of

reworking our language a little bit more generically, but I tell you,

you get too far away from it, then you lose the specific purpose for

which it was intended, and I think today I didn't have much trou-

ble. I will tell you, as my testimony will show in the extended part
of those 51 provisions turned out to be trinkets or targeted items.

Mr. Allard. Trying to think aloud with you a little bit and what
has been said from your discussion with members on the Ways and
Means, maybe it would be appropriate to have a constitutional

line-item veto on appropriation matters which maybe it is a little

clearer cut than it would be maybe on tax issues, maybe make it a

statutory type of proposal.
Mr. Michel. Well, I have only recently come around to really ad-

vocating a balanced budget amendment. Quite frankly, I have

always been a little reluctant to toying with that document,
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amending the constitution for something we can't get otherwise
and even for those advocates who think it is a means by which you
control spending, it sure as heck doesn't assure that you are going
to have no tax increases because you then are obliged by what you
have really cemented into the Constitution matching those figures,
and we have been pretty deficient in doing that, so it certainly is

no automatic thing that you are only going to cut expenditures and
taxes will never be raised. You are kidding yourself if you think
that.

It took me a long time to come around to advocating it because
of that reservation, but we have just made such a mess of it for so

long that, you know, I guess you get to the point where you just
about throw up your hands and say, well, let's try something new.
Mr. Allard. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I realize I have gone

over my time. I appreciate your indulgence. Thank you.
Chairman Boren. Thank you, Mr. Allard.

Mr. Lugar.
Senator Lugar. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.
Bob, it is great to hear your words of wisdom. Let me just try on

for size for your counsel some thoughts I have had as we have lis-

tened now to several hearings on the budget. In one of the first

hearings our colleague on this committee, Senator Kassebaum, pre-
sented a plan, and that stimulated additional thought as she made
her presentation and answered questions. She suggested a leader-

ship committee in lieu of the Budget Committee.
In other words, the process would start with the Chairman and

Ranking Member of each of the major committees, probably also

with the Majority Leader and the Minority Leader, maybe with the

Whips, but it would be a leadership group that would set the pa-
rameters of what we were going to do, and come forward with a

budget resolution, in essence, giving the expertise of each of the

subject matter areas as well as an overall consideration.

Now, one thought that was stimulated by the discussion of Sena-
tor Kassebaum's amendment and some other testimony is with
what kind of dollars do you start the discussion? One of the wit-

nesses pointed out that we now start with so-called real dollars

which means last year's dollars plus inflation, and that this is the
base line. The base line this year is approximately 3 percent higher
in everything, and therefore things are gauged in terms of an in-

crease in spending or a decrease in spending from the base line,

not from the actual dollars.

In my own notes I sort of scratched a note to myself, "start with
real dollars." The American people understand the same dollars,
and we are creating literally a deficit of sorts each year by increas-

ing by inflation, and compounding our error. So I would, at least as

I have scratched out notes, I would start with this leadership com-
mittee and real dollars to be started out with last year.
The second major point that we got into with the Kassebaum dis-

cussion was should this committee
Mr. Michel. Senator, if I might interrupt for just a moment, and

I have no problem except that when you include leaders, and you
have all observed how little I can attend this committee's function
or the other leaders, too, for that matter, we are so burdened and
so loaded down with obligations, what we have done in the House
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is I have my leadership appointee to the Budget Committee cur-

rently, Alex McMillan, and on the Democratic side I am not sure
who the leadership appointee is, but he can't become the Chairman
or the Ranking Member, but to sit right up there right under
either the Chairman or Ranking Member as our leader.

Now, other than that—the other point might be up to this point
in the discussion is that you make—it lends itself to our getting
more and more away from what I would call, I guess, for lack of a
better term, zero-based budgeting right of review. That is why I

would always like to retain the Appropriations Committee process
in the authorizing. The only oversight on many of these programs
is what the annual review in the appropriation process gives you
because the legislative committees generally fail to do their job.
Senator Lugar. Well, let me then—maybe I should amend my

thoughts to leave out the leaders because they are overburdened,
maybe just have the Chairman and the Ranking Members. If the
leaders would not feel insulted to have been left out.

Mr. Michel. That is a good place to start.

Senator Lugar. Then the big question is what does this leader-

ship committee deal with? The Kassebaum amendment started out
with the thought that it would be the discretionary programs as op-

posed to the entitlement programs.
Now, as you have pointed out, 60 percent to two-thirds of all the

money is entitlements, so by far the bolder idea is that it would
deal with everything, entitlements and discretionary every year,
which means, for example, in the food stamp program, which is in

my area in agriculture, we would take up that every year.
Now, some people would say well, how can you do that? After all,

if you qualify for the stamps, you get them. It is simply the duty of

Congress to appropriate enough money to fulfill that obligation,
but as we are in a case of reform, maybe it would say our Nation
can afford only $25 billion a year for food stamps, come hell or

high water, that is it, $25 billion, so you will have to tailor the re-

quirements to meet the 25, not have the requirements and then do
whatever you need to do, but that is a very bold maneuver, one
that I think has a lot to be said for it. We put everything on the
table every year.
Now, beyond that, then, we have a major committee like Foreign

Relations, Agriculture, Armed Services that proceeds to authorize
and appropriate both. In essence it authorizes what would be useful
to do but it is constrained by this leadership group, this Budget
Committee, to make sure we do not do any more than we can
spend for, so it might say to some groups in society, we think you
have a good program, but we can only do half of it this year or it is

going to have to wait for three years from now, and oversight
occurs, review in that process, but we wind it up at that point.
We know from the beginning what our constraints were, and we

have experts that finally decide what the best programs are. The
thing I would ask of you is, you have suggested maybe in this

budget step it ought to be a joint Senate-House committee to begin
with, which is an intriguing idea. Maybe you begin to get a better
view if you are sitting out there as a citizen of this Nation and you
have the House and the Senate dealing with the thing from the be-

ginning as to how it is all going to come out, and maybe this is un-
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wieldy, but I ask you just for your judgment, given all of the rest of
this constrict that I have suggested.
Mr. Michel. Well, and there is the danger of it being too un-

wieldy and too large when it is a joint—when we would have to

tailor that down. I personally happen to like—they can fault our

system around here on both sides of how people become Chairman
and Ranking Members of their committee, but after all, it can be

changed, too, if it is required or if somebody defaults on their role

or their obligation there, I think the majority rule usually can
change that, but that is a good nucleus from which to start.

Your mention, Dick, of food stamps, I remember when that was a
$20 million pilot program, and now, what, $28 billion?

Senator Lugar. Not that high. I use that—but, nevertheless, we
are getting close to that, with an all-time high unhappily of over 10

percent of our population on the stamps. Thank you very much.
Chairman Boren. Thank you, Senator Lugar.
Vice Chairman Dreier.
Mr. Dreier. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. Let me first

say to you, Mr. Leader, that I very much appreciate the opportuni-
ty to serve as a member of this committee and in my position as a
Co-Vice Chairman I have to say that I wondered slightly about how
much I enjoyed it when I walked into the room to see our former
colleague, Mr. Gradison, looking extraordinarily rested and relaxed
as he prepares to testify before us.

This is a challenge, and I would like to say that based on what
you have just said, it seems to me that one of the greatest reforms
that we could possibly come forward with would be to see us simply
comply with existing rules of the House, and that, to me, is a very
disconcerting commentary on where we are.

We had a long, very interesting conference this morning, Repub-
lican Conference, in which we talked about this problem, and it

seems to me that as we look at the problems that we are having
now in the House, again serving on the Rules Committee with 100

percent of our rules having come forward in a restrictive capacity,
it seems to me that these developments are going to make our
work on this Joint Committee even more challenging, and I guess
what I would like to ask you, Mr. Leader, is, this is slightly off the

subject, but I am going to take advantage of your presence here. I

know that the commitment from our side is very great for this

issue of reform.
Based on the developments we have seen on this rules issue over

the past several weeks, what do you see as the commitment from
the leadership on the other side of the aisle towards the work of
this committee?
Mr. Michel. Well, we had a very interesting meeting the other

night, I guess it was last evening, for over an hour and a half be-

cause of the kind of things that are going on, and they are extrane-
ous really to what the real key issue is, and that is opening up the

process for more and more Members.
Now, it may be heresy to even think in these terms, but I know,

there are just four of you on our side on the Rules Committee and
you are never going to win one vote during the course of the year
on anything. Now, I can recall being around here when there were
actually divided votes on the Rules Committee on both sides based
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solely on the issues. I could conceivably ask all four of you to just

resign your position from the Rules Committee.
Mr. Dreier. Then I could spend full-time on the Joint Committee

on the reform of Congress then.

Mr. Michel. That is right, because you become incidental to the

process. If not once, do you get an opportunity to make an impact.
If it is all dictated from on top, and that is it and there is no way
to overturn that, you know, it isn't all together outside the realm
of possibility that maybe you are just, you know, irrelevant to the

process.
Now, it is pretty strong, and I think that would reflect—it would

maybe cause some people to think the second time around whether
or not that is really where we want to go, but I will tell you, as

much as I—you know the institutionalist that I am, and I believe

in abiding by the rules and we get some Members who, yes, even

by abiding to the rules it appears to be somewhat obstructionist

from time to time, but when you are just so completely frustrated

at not even being able to get the time of day in this legislative busi-

ness, why, you resort to some rather extreme measures sometimes
to just wake people up to the fact that it is that bad.

Unfortunately I began—or fortunately when I began my career,
it was with Speaker Rayburn, and since those days it just seems
like things have become tighter and tighter and tighter.
Mr. Dreier. Senator Boren's father was a Member of the House,

and he was just demonstrating to me his surprise as he did in his

questions to you about the fact that the process is so closed now,
preventing Democrats or Republicans from having the opportunity
to participate. Frankly, Mr. Leader, you may not know this, but
those of us on the Republican side of the Rules Committee have
often been offering Democrat amendments when Democrats have
come before the Rules Committee, making the request to have an
amendment made in order and they are denied it by their own
party, so we offer their amendments, and again have a party line

vote on that, so it is

Mr. Michel. As the gentleman knows, I see nothing wrong, for

example, in having a week's debate in the House. It is routine in

the Senate, but for us to have an hour debate, you know, for-

against or one substitute on some real significant piece of legisla-

tion, when we have coming up reconciliation, health care, cam-

paign reform or whatever, and to limit that to one or two hours, it

just absolutely demeans the process and is ridiculous, and
Mr. Dreier. Based on this, though, do you think we are going to

have a commitment of support from the leadership?
Mr. Michel. Well, it was a good meeting last night. Now, I think

the leaders have always got to be able to talk, and I am willing to

do that. Maybe if we move to each of our policy committees on both

sides, hey, there has got to be a representative group of people here
and not a lot of free-lancers out there doing their single thing, be-

cause we are dealing with the whole here, and then maybe it is a

blessing in disguise to have a break for Easter if we can get things
started and then come back with a fresh start. I certainly hope we
can do it.

Mr. Dreier. To get back to my original point, it is rather discon-

certing that our goal now is to simply get this institution to comply
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with the standing rules of the House, much less consider the pro-

posals which we hope will emanate from this Joint Committee on
the Organization of Congress, and we hope will have the support of

both sides. I appreciate your statement, although I hope that to-

morrow's Los Angeles Times doesn't have a headline that says,

"Republican Leader Says Dreier Irrelevant."
Mr. Michel. I am sure that will not be the case.

Mr. Dreier. Thank you. Thank you very much. I had a couple
questions I was going to ask on the budget, but my time is up.
Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman Boren. Thank you very much, Vice Chairman Dreier.

Let me turn now to Senator Kassebaum.
Senator Kassebaum. Mr. Leader, it is a great pleasure to hear

your analysis because you, of course, bring a great deal of experi-
ence and have seen so many changes take place.

Following you testifying, of course, today is someone from the
Senate side who brings that same experience, Henry Bellmon, as
Governor and Senator, and former leader of the Budget Committee
when I first came to the Senate, and an appropriator as well. I

think we can all learn from the kind of experience and integrity
that both of you have brought to the process. I would like to ex-

plore further, because I was going to ask you about the entitlement

part of the budget. I think we are all concerned how we can better

handle that, particularly as we are moving more and more to

making many aspects of the budget entitlement.
With full funding for whatever initiative one wishes to consider,

we then have a new entitlement, and I think before we know it we
are going to have it grow and grow. Would you be supportive of

ending all entitlements except social security and moving it

through the appropriation process, the annual appropriation?
Mr. Michel. I am trying to think, and-but it could easily be

found out with a little research, before 1974, how much of our

budget was really involved at that time in entitlement programs?
Now, the big push came, of course, when we finally realized we

are going to deny President Nixon line item authority, you know,
every President from early on through that time used that—or

they just refused to spend if they didn't think it was necessary, and
to overcome that, you remember in the House we, post Watergate,
it was a big freshman class. We are going to overcome that baby by
writing the legislation in the form of entitlements so there will be
no doubt about its being spent, and, if not, we will go into court
and make our case, and, of course, then, it has just exacerbated
since that time.
And what it does, it is an engine that drives itself and there is

very little, and, unfortunately, most of those programs are the sen-

sitive ones that the minute you even talk about we are going to

look at, it suggests to a pressure group out there that we out to

maybe restrain it, not really X it out or even cut it, restrain the
increases that are automatically built in the process.
Quite frankly, even on these indexing of programs or of COLAs,

you know, if it is always just right up to the maximum, there is

nowhere else to go but there. If it is slightly, just a little nick in it

and the billions of dollars that eventually add up to savings, you
know, it would be worth our doing it.
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Senator Kassebaum. Well, too, to give you an example that I

think we all support the programs, one is student loans, the other

is Head Start are headed now for full funding, and without, as you

say, it is difficult to make the case that we really ought to be

thoughtful about how we approach this, and I think that actually
the appropriators have indeed been the gate keeper because many
times the authorizers can say, well, we have authorized it to con-

stituents who want more funding, and the appropriators were the

ones who blocked it, so it has served as a convenient excuse and

scapegoat many times for us, again, being willing to debate the sub-

stance of the issue. But what I really appreciate are hearing your

thoughts just about the process and a very genuine expression of

the frustration that I think many of us feel on what we can do to

improve it.

It is not only the rules of the House, but it is the rules of the

Senate that we frequently ignore as well.

Thank you very much.
Chairman Boren. Thank you, Senator Kassebaum.
Senator Cohen.
Senator Cohen. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and Congressman

Michel, it is a pleasure to see you. I want to say that while you are

viewed, and appropriately so, as a partisan leader of the Republi-
can Party, I don't know of anyone who has a reputation of being
more fair-minded than you are, and I really admire the work you
have done over the years in the House and continue to admire it

today.
You pointed out something that has struck a nerve certainly

with me and I think with most of my colleagues here. I have

always believed that the gravest, the most melancholy wounds are

those that are self-inflicted, and the reason that Congress histori-

cally has enjoyed such a low level of esteem among the American

people is because we in office have inflicted the wounds of that dis-

regard or low esteem. We are the ones who are constantly running
against the institution, and so you have a situation in which your
success back in your home district is now measured by how much
quote, "pork" you can bring home.
At the same time, while you are measured successful, if you can

bring a big slice of pork to your home district, the Nation is left to

wonder why it is now suffering from a massive case of trichinosis,

unexplained case of trichinosis. That has been going on and on for

many, many years, and the fact is that you are now asking for a

new test or measure for success, which is really the old test, and

people like yourself, Bob Dole, Pete Domenici and others have long
been seen as sort of old-time conservatives.

You are not movement conservatives, you are not sunny supply
siders, but rather dark-looking at the dark side of the moon, talk-

ing about pain.
Mr. Michel. Kind of dull.

Senator Cohen. Talking about sacrifice, talking about deferral of

gratification, talking about balance, and it seems there is a wonder-
ful line from a poet that says we are explorers. We shall not cease

from exploration, and at the end of all that exploring will be to

arrive at the place we began and know it for the first time. We are
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finally coming around the circle to the place where we began a

long time ago, talking about those old-time values.
There is a reason for that, and it comes in the personality, if not

the person of Ross Perot, who is a gentleman who provokes either

great admiration or indeed great hostility. Some even will say con-

tempt. But nonetheless, he is lending considerable weight to the
effort that you and Senator Dole and Domenici and others in the
Senate and your colleagues in the House have been waging for

quite a long time now, and that is to talk about balance and about
balanced budgets and about restraint, and how we can get back to

some really solid values that used to govern this country which are
no longer in play.
We have a stimulus package up on the Floor right now, as a

matter of fact. You talk about the frustration you feel and how you
are hamstrung by the House rules, we can't even get votes up in

the Senate, which is regarded as having perhaps the loosest of all

rules in a democratic system. We can't get an opportunity to vote
in a substantive way upon measures which we feel ought to be ex-

plained to the American people.
It is a 16 to roughly a $19 billion package, and it is loaded with

those thin and sometimes large slices of pork, and we can't get
them out. We can't get them out right now, and we are not going
to have an opportunity to do that because of procedural rules, so

what you are saying today, I think, strikes quite a responsive chord
with those of us on this side, at least. I am sure there is probably
disagreement with the chairman of the committee who is serving
here right now in terms of his position on this, but not a substan-
tial difference of opinion, maybe perhaps from a political partisan
point of view.

I would like to come just quickly to the issue of balance in terms
of balanced budgets. That is something I think most of us are

coming around to support, something that you have been out there
in the vineyards for a long time advocating, but when you speak of
a line-item veto, a constitutional amendment, it is unlikely we are

going to achieve that, not in your House and certainly not in the
Senate itself because there is a genuine concern about the shift of

power and to give too much control to the executive, but there is

also a measure. There is one pending in your House, in the House
of Representatives and one in ours called expedited rescission,

which, at the very least would call upon the House and the Senate
when the President sends up a list of those items that should be
stricken from an appropriations bill that right now the system is

we don't have to vote on it. We can just disregard it, and it falls to

the wayside, dies on the vine as such.
What our expedited rescission measures would do, and the one, I

think it is the Stenholm bill in the House and our own in the

Senate, is require us at a minimum, at a minimum to simply vote
within a 20-day period so that the public can see which Members
are really going to measure up to their responsibilities. And if the
item in the budget has merit, we ought to at least be willing to

debate it fully and openly in front of the American people, and I

hope that there will be bipartisan support for that measure in the
House and the Senate as well.
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I wanted to thank you for coming. I will read your entire testi-

mony, and that of those who are going to follow, Senator Bellmon
and others who are coming. Thank you very much.
Mr. Michel. Thank you.
Chairman Boren. Thank you very much, Senator Cohen. I was

heartened by your view that the Republican Party was in the proc-
ess of finding itself and its old values again.
Senator Cohen. You bet, we are coming back.
Chairman Boren. That was very heartening to me listening to

that.

Seriously, Mr. Michel, we appreciate you being with us, and you
have given us some excellent suggestions, and I want to assure you
we will take them very seriously, and we look forward to your par-

ticipating in our deliberations as we move toward the recommend-
ing phase of the committee's work. We thank you very much for

taking the time to be with us.

Mr. Michel. Thank you, Senator, all the members of the commit-
tee. I hope I can really join you in a more active way one of these

days.
Chairman Boren. We look forward to it. I am going to ask now if

Senator Bellmon and Representative Gradison would join us at the
witness table. They will testify as together, the two of them.
The first member of that panel will be Senator Henry Bellmon,

former Senator Henry Bellmon, who served as Governor of Oklaho-
ma before being elected to the United States Senate in 1968. Let
me say served briefly also in the State legislature in Oklahoma
before he became Governor. During his years of service in the
Senate he served as the first Ranking Member of the Senate

Budget Committee, and I might say we had hoped to have former
Senator Muskie with us today. There was a scheduling conflict, but
we look forward to getting his advice as well.

Senator Muskie and Senator Bellmon, at that time, served as the

original leaders of the Senate Budget Committee. After leaving the
Senate in 1981, let me say that I have always worried because I

was elected to be Senator Bellmon's colleague in the 1979 election,
and about a week later he announced that he was going to retire

from the Senate.
I have always hoped there was no causal connection between the

two. In all seriousness, it was a real pleasure for me to have the

opportunity to serve that first two years of my time in the Senate
with Senator Bellmon as my senior colleague. He is a person of

great integrity, as all of us in our State know. We take great pride
in his public service and it made my coming to the Senate much
easier to have him as my senior colleague because he always ap-

proached every issue without regard to partisanship and what was
best for the country, and we had that kind of relationship, and it

was one that means a great deal and continues to mean a great
deal to me.

After leaving the Senate in 1981 he went on to be the cofounder
and cochairman of the Committee for a Responsible Federal

Budget, and that committee has continued to have an impact, a

positive impact, I might say, in terms of trying to reduce budget
deficits and to bring our budget back in line. He also has since
then served as the Director of the Oklahoma Department of



20

Human Services and was recalled, in essence, by the people of

Oklahoma to come back and serve again as Governor of the State

of Oklahoma, elected Governor again in 1986. So he has had a very
distinguished career of public service in our State.

Let me say that we also welcome today Bill Gradison, who was a
Member of the House of Representatives from 1975 to 1993, repre-

senting the Second District of Ohio. Before leaving the House he
was one of the founding fathers of this Joint Committee. He served
for a brief period as the first vice chairman on the House side of

this committee, and many times in the process of working to get
this Joint Committee established we met together, worked togeth-
er, and without his efforts on the House side I am absolutely con-

vinced this committee would never have come into existence, so it

is a real pleasure to welcome him back with us today as well.

I do have a statement regarding representative Gradison's testi-

mony, and I ask unanimous consent that it be included in the
record at this point.

"I would note for the record that Mr. Gradison is appearing
today because of his status as a former Member of Congress, and a
former ranking Republican Member on the House Budget Commit-
tee. His special knowledge in these particular areas are the subject
of this hearing. As many of us know, in 1989 we passed legislation
that applied a 'one year' ban on contacts by former Senators,
House members and certain staff. However, because Mr. Gradison
is appearing here today as an individual, representing only himself,
his appearance is an exception to the one year ban."
Chairman Boren. Without objection it will be done. We are

again very pleased and honored to have both of you with us. We
appreciate your taking the time to come and share your thoughts
with us and to be our concluding witnesses on this section of our

hearings dealing with the budget process.
We will start first with Senator Bellmon.

STATEMENT OF HON. HENRY BELLMON, A FORMER U.S.

SENATOR FROM THE STATE OF OKLAHOMA
Mr. Bellmon. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I would like to com-

mend Senator Boren and other Members of the Joint Committee
for convening these hearings.
You have certainly undertaken an essential but thoroughly diffi-

cult task, and the confidence of the Nation in Congress can be

heavily impacted upon your conclusions and the actions that follow

when you have completed your deliberations.

Mr. Chairman, it is kind of a coincidence that the last speech I

made on the Senate Floor back in 1980 was on the subject of con-

gressional reorganization and budget process reform. So this is

almost deja vu.
I was interested in many of the comments Mr. Michel made, and

there will be some redundancies between what he said and what I

say, and I apologize for that, but I didn't know what he was going
to be saying.

Let me first say, no plan to better organize the Congress and no

budget process can substitute for political will. The Congress, no
matter how it is organized, no matter how effective the budget
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process, elected officials must make some tough choices. And there

is no way to get away from that, and we shouldn't condemn the

budget process because those choices aren't made.
If I could do one thing to help Congress today, I would simply

recreate Senator Muskie as Chairman of the Senate Budget Com-
mittee. The contribution he made, the courage and leadership he
demonstrated in those early days of the budget process can't be

overstated.

I hope you will give the Senator a chance to comment because I

am sure many of the things he would have to say would be invalu-

able.

I might also say at this point that Susan Tanoken and Carol Cox
of The Committee For A Responsible Federal Budget, have helped
me with the testimony. If you would be interested, they would be

available to offer testimony.

Frankly, I am flattered to be invited back to testify today, and I

find that my thoughts aren't that much changed from what I said

back in 1980. I might also confess I am a little bit frightened be-

cause Congress must be getting kind of desperate when you invite

a retread back after 12 years' absence. Most of those 12 years I

spent chasing cows across the Oklahoma plains, and the budget
process has been the furthest thing from my mind.

I would like to submit a copy of my 1980 speech for the record. It

has been turned over to the staff.

Chairman Boren. It will be received for the record.

[Former Senator Bellmon's written testimony before the Senate
in 1980 is printed in the Appendix.]
Mr. Bellmon. I am less sanguine than I was then about the abili-

ty of Congress to enforce spending limits through points of order.

Those don't seem to be working as well as they once did. Instead, I

have come to the view that Congress needs statutory spending
limits backed up by automatic across-the-board cuts which have
come to be known as "sequestration."

I will focus on four points today. Others have testified in support
of similar comments. For instance, the Kassebaum-Inouye bill

would accomplish much of what I am going to propose.
I am going to talk about, basically, four things: First, that the

United States move to a biennial budget and appropriating process.
It seems to me the annual process as we go through here are so

time consuming, they take so much effort on the part of so many
Members, that they make it difficult for Congress to handle the

other responsibilities that the body has.

The way it would work, in my judgment, is that in the odd-num-
bered years the President would propose and Congress would act

on the budget on spending and tax legislation. In the even-num-
bered years, Congress would consider substantive legislative pro-

posals, conduct meaningful oversight, monitor and evaluate pro-

grams, authorize and reauthorize spending.
It would go on a two-year cycle, the first year you appropriate,

the next year you deal with the substantive legislative proposals
and oversight. I would recommend that Congress give the President
more flexibility to execute and implement policy, fewer set asides

and earmarks, and broader reprogramming authority.
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The second point, in the new system the House and Senate
should combine authorizing committees and appropriation subcom-
mittees. You put the two together. Authorizing committees, in my
experience, have minimal spending restraint. It is often the case
that the authorizing committees simply put in the language saying
they authorize whatever is required. It is obvious that the authoriz-

ing committees have very little concept about what is available to

spend. And by putting those together, that awareness should be en-
hanced.

Every Member would then serve on a tax writing committee or
on one of the combined authorizing-appropriating committees. So

every Member would be involved in the process during this one

year when you are dealing with the appropriations and budgeting.
The third point, in order to give the process more clout and pro-

vide stronger leadership, the Budget Committee should be reconsti-

tuted as House and Senate committees on National priorities. They
should be Leadership Committees comprised of the Chairman and
Ranking Members of the Tax Writing and Combined Authorizing/
Appropriating Committees. The new committees should be given
jurisdiction over legislation affecting the Budget Act and process.

If the House and Senate do not adopt a conference agreement on
the budget by a certain date, the appropriations process should
move forward based on the limits contained in the President's

budget. There wouldn't be any hang ups for lack of a budget resolu-

tion because if the Congress can't agree, we simply use the Presi-

dent's numbers for the appropriating process to begin.
The fourth point: The Congress and the President should agree

on binding spending limits, including limits on entitlement spend-
ing. That is rather drastic, but I would suggest that the spending
limits include entitlement spending, the same as discretionary.
These limits should be written into law. If spending exceeds the

limits, automatic cuts, like sequestration of the 1990 budget agree-
ment, should eliminate the overage.

In addition to those four points, I would like to make some addi-
tional comments on budget process reform.

I support the line-item veto. As governor and as Senator from
Oklahoma, I know. We have had the line-item veto in our constitu-
tion forever. I don't see how you can govern a state without it.

But I understand that here at the national level, it might require
time-consuming constitutional change. As an interim measure, I

would recommend a system of enhanced rescissions which are
needed as an effective statutory alternative to the line-item veto.

The President should not be forced to choose between vetoing mas-
sive appropriations bills, providing funding for whole departments
and agencies—in the case of continuing resolutions, funding for vir-

tually the entire Federal Government—or signing into law appro-
priations projects he considers to be wasteful.

Congress must allow the President more latitude to manage the

day-to-day business of government efficiently and effectively.
I say this, it doesn't matter who the President is, he ought to be

given greater flexibility.

Any effective budget process must be universal, open, and under-
standable and enforceable. All program costs should be on budget.
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Congress and the administration must set firm, multiyear spending
limits and live within the limits they set.

Recent experience suggests that the problem does not lie chiefly
in the budgets that are adopted. The problem lies in enforcement
of the budget once it has been adopted. Over the last decade, actual

deficits have averaged $42 billion per year more than the deficits

contained in the budget resolutions Congress adopted. In one year,

1989, actual spending was almost $85 billion higher than the level

in the budget resolution.

So the budgets have not been the problem. The problem is that

the budgets have been busted.

Only interest should be exempt from expenditure limits and se-

questration. Expenditure limits should be adjusted annually for

changes in unemployment, inflation, and case loads. So-called

"technical adjustments" should be limited to timing shifts, like the

delay in spending for the savings and loan bailout. Technical ad-

justments should not be a guise to make up for mistakes in our es-

timates of the likely cost of spending and tax policies.

Congress should stop trying to fine tune fiscal policy for every
blip in the business cycle. Leave economic stabilization to the mon-

etary policy process. Fiscal policy changes are too cumbersome, too

political, too tardy, and too tiny to achieve meaningful, timely re-

sults.

I would support the creation of a Fiscal Policy Advisory Board

composed of leading economists or budget experts chosen by the

President and by congressional leaders to comment on the assump-
tions and estimates underlying budgetary proposals. Members of

this board should not be government employees. They should not

generate forecasts nor make budget estimates. Their task should be
to provide nonpolitical, professional comment on the forecasts and
estimates made by official government agencies in the manner that

they are presented. The board also might comment on the quality
of the data, based on which government makes major economic de-

cisions.

The deliberations and conclusions of the board should aid public

understanding and improve the credibility of congressional deci-

sions.

The expenditure side of the budget should include a small re-

serve, under the control of the President, against contingency li-

abilities and emergencies. Even the governor of Oklahoma has
access to such a fund like that.

Summing up, let me just say I feel the President needs to be

given greater flexibility to be the President and be the Nation's
chief executive.
There are a few housekeeping details I would like to mention

about the budget process.
There should be a statutory requirement that every budgetary

proposal provides certain information in a consistent format, such
as budgetary authority, outlays, revenues, deficits and debts, aggre-
gates and committee allocations, functional totals, or budget cate-

gories, whichever is the basis for scorekeeping and enforcement.
Another point, there is a need to build an informed constituency

for spending restraint. To me, one of the biggest weaknesses in the

budget process, is that we have a great constituency for spending
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but no constituency for restraint. That is one reason we put togeth-
er the Committee For A Responsible Federal Budget.
As an example, each time the IRS mails out tax forms, they

might include a "box score" report to taxpayers something like a
table I have listed here.

It would include: "Spending caps recommended by the Presi-

dent," "Caps adopted by Congress," "Any Revisions to the Caps
during the Preceding Year," "Actual Spending compared to the

Caps, "Revenues," Deficit," "Increase in the National Debt in

the Preceding Year" on the basis of the total in the per capita.
Since I left the Senate, I have served with Bob Giaimo, who is a

former Chairman of the House Budget Committee, as the co-Chair-

man of the Committee For A Responsible Federal Budget. I have
with me some materials describing what the committee calls the
"Truth in Budgeting" proposal. These proposals were developed
during the debate on the 1990 budget agreement. These materials

compare that proposal with the Budget Enforcement Act, which is

part of the 1990 budget agreement. These materials spell out in

more detail the committee's recommendations for a budget process

change that we believe needs to be enacted as a part of the deficit

reduction legislation this year.
And I would like to submit those for the record, if I may.
Chairman Boren. We would be happy to receive those for the

record.

Mr. Bellmon. Mr. Chairman, to conclude, let me, again, stress

the four points: Congress should adopt a biennial budget and appro-
priating process, go from one year to two years.
Congress should combine the Authorizing Committees and Ap-

propriations Subcommittees. Each Member should serve on a Tax
Committee or one of the combined Authorizing-Appropriating Com-
mittees.

The Budget Committees should be reconstituted as House and
Senate Committees on National Priorities. The Chairman and
Ranking Members of Taxing and Appropriating Committees should
be Members of the Committees on National Priorities.

Congress and the President should set binding spending limits,

including limits on entitlements. These limits should be written
into law and backed up by automatic cuts similar to sequestration
under the 1990 act.

The Federal budget process is decentralized with a vengeance.
Many executive branch agencies, many congressional committees
and subcommittees go through many steps each year until it seems
that no decision on spending and tax policy ever is final. The proc-
ess is replete with duplication, overlap, and redundancies. Com-
plexity, compounded by confusion, undermines accountability.
We speak of so-called "uncontrollable spending" as if those Fed-

eral outlays resulted from natural laws rather than statutes en-

acted right here on Capitol Hill. Any of those statutes can be

changed by Congress with the President's concurrence.
The thrust of my recommendations is twofold: Make government

and the budget process more accountable and understandable; and
create real, political embarrassment when the President and the

Congress fail to live up to the promises that are made in the

budget process each year.
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We need to be concerned about government accountability. The

polling booth is the market clearinghouse for a responsible govern-
ment. When government becomes so complex that concerned

voters, willing to spend a reasonable amount of time, cannot under-

stand what is going on in Washington, the system is in danger of

breaking down.
But the budget is not the problem. The problem is that Congress

and the administration fail to live within the budgets that have
been adopted.

I am convinced that real, binding spending limits, covering all

Federal spending, including entitlements, hold the key to serious

budgetary restraint. Congress can balance the budget by cutting

spending and/or raising revenues. But you will never reduce the

deficit unless you agree that there is a limit to the amount of

money that Congress and the President can spend and stay within

those limits.

Chairman Boren. Thank you very much.

[The prepared statement of former Senator Bellmon is printed in

the Appendix.]
Chairman Boren. I am going to ask Congressman Gradison to go

ahead and give his opening remarks. Then we will address our

questions to both of you.
Congressman Gradison?

STATEMENT OF HON. WILLIS D. GRADISON, A FORMER U.S.

REPRESENTATIVE FROM THE STATE OF OHIO

Mr. Gradison. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. It is a great pleasure
to appear here as a witness. I, of course, have to observe, it seems
different from this side of the table. I had the honor to serve for 10

years on the House Budget Committee, and my remarks will be

based upon that experience.
One of the things I learned from that 10 years of service is why

there is a six-year limit. But I am glad I stayed with it during that

period because it did give me a perspective which I am happy to

share with you today.
Scholars and Members alike still debate what the purpose of the

1974 Budget Act really was, that is whether it was to reduce defi-

cits or to establish an institutional framework within which fiscal

policy can be debated and decisions can be made.
Those two goals are not mutually exclusive, and both are appro-

priate to consider as we reckon with whether some further changes
are necessary.
The budget process ought to be overarching. It ought to be a

system that provides a flexible, institutional framework. The struc-

ture of the budget process needs to be more rigid, in particular
more rigid in the sense of ensuring that decisions made within the

broad framework of the budget process are actually enforced, as

Senator Bellmon has indicated.

It is inconceivable to me that the Congress cannot have a budget
process, although there are many Members of the House I know,
with whom I served, who wish the budget process would go away
and prefer the old days. But the choice is really between a process
that is really quite chaotic, as was the case before the 1974 Budget
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and Impoundment Act, and various degrees of rationality which

might substitute for it.

A rational budget process is needed in order to provide some
degree of order, discipline, and frankly, even political cover in

making these decisions. But a budget process can never substitute

for what Congress doesn't really want to do.

In other words, the process can't force the Congress to do what it

doesn't want to do. Nothing, including a better budget process, can
substitute for leadership. But, of course, leadership is a relative

concept. To have leaders, you have to have followers.

Perhaps the best thing for the budget process to do in terms of

reform is to make institutional changes that increase the power of

our leaders, not just in the budget process but more broadly as well

as the power of the political parties within the Congress, a matter
which I know has been on the minds of those of us who were in-

volved in the creation of this committee.
Too often, budget process reform allows Members to avoid the

much more difficult task of trying to figure out how to deal with
the deficit. It was Rudy Penner, the former director of the Congres-
sional Budget Office who said, the process is not the problem; the

problem is the problem. I think that is true.

Some Members may find political comfort by focusing on process
reform to the exclusion of those actions. And there are only two of

them that can be taken—spending cuts or tax increases—that are

necessary if the budget deficit is, indeed, to be reduced.
In other words, reform is not really an end unto itself. There

have been a few things that I would like to share with you that I

think we can conclude from our experience of recent years.
First off, Gramm-Rudman I and Gramm-Rudman II have taught

us that focusing on deficit levels is unlikely to work. The game
playing and creative accounting during that period was wonderful
to behold; but the more you saw it from close at hand, the less at-

tractive it looked. The Budget Enforcement Act, under which the

Congress is now operating—which focuses on control of spending
with its divisions between discretionary and pay-go categories and
with the sequestration provisions—does provide a promising, work-
able framework with realistic enforcement.
One of the deficiencies of the 1974 Budget Act was its emphasis

on one-year budgeting. Both Gramm-Rudman, in its various varie-

ties, and the Budget Enforcement Act have moved the Congress
somewhat in the direction of multiyear budgeting.

In other words, it is not a new idea. You are actually doing it

right now. I want to support the notion that it ought to be contin-

ued. The problems which in my mind have occurred under the

Budget Enforcement Act of 1990, rarely have to do with the will-

ingness or unwillingness of the Congress to follow that act.

For example, frequent attempts to use—and a lot of successful

attempts to use the emergency clause basically make the limits of

relatively little significance. It doesn't seem very hard to waive the

emergency clause.

Also, I think we have to acknowledge that under the Budget En-
forcement Act of 1990 60 percent, fully 60 percent of the spending
reductions which were to be made were to be made during the last

two years, which is about where we are right now. And it seems
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extremely unlikely, to say it nicely, that the savings which were

contemplated—one might even say promised—as part of the

Budget Enforcement Act of 1990, will actually occur.

Multiyear authorizations are another question which I know you
have considered. I think they are a good idea, but I am not suggest-

ing them, necessarily, with the idea that they would save any
money. They might; they might not. But multiyear authorizations

could lead—probably would lead to the committee's spending more
time on oversight and, therefore, possibly to more effective govern-
ment programs.

It is perfectly possible to have a multiyear budget and multiyear
authorizations, as in the highway program, and annual appropria-
tions. One doesn't have to move to—and I know there is resistance

to it—a multiyear appropriations to move in that direction through
multiyear budgets and multiyear authorizations.

Too often, specific reform proposals are debated on the basis of

sort of a static analysis, whereas in my view a more dynamic anal-

ysis, including an analysis of the political impact of some of the

things that are suggested, might suggest a different conclusion.

My favorite example is the debate over the line-item veto. My
personal guess is that in the end all that will change is the process
and that spending will not be lower and, indeed, might actually be

higher under a line-item veto than it is today. Of course, this com-
ment is based upon some understanding, or some thoughts at least,

on my part as to how the existence of a line-item veto would alter

the relations between the Congress and the executive branch and
also recognizes the fact whoever is occupying the White House is

chosen by the people and is a political person just like Members of

Congress and may not always want to veto, even on a line-item

basis, spending proposals.
I guess what I am really saying, Mr. Chairman, is that I think it

is important to be careful not to overstate the joys and benefits of

higher efficiency as the highest goal for congressional reform. The
grand design of the Congress—indeed of the entire Federal Govern-
ment—is rather conservative in the sense of having checks and bal-

ances within checks and balances and purposely making change
difficult. And that is just as much a bane of liberals as it is a bane
of conservatives. But I think it is a healthy aspect of our system
and one which should not quickly be changed.
A couple of concluding thoughts: I truly believe, as others have

suggested, that it would be wise for the budget resolution to be sent
to the President. And, indeed, I would suggest that this is the very
time to make that provision, Mr. Chairman, because today it

doesn't seem necessary with one party controlling the Congress and
the White House. And that is why I think this is the very time to

put on the books the requirement that the budget resolution go to

the President.
Some day we may again have a divided government; and at that

time, that provision would be very desirable. And it would be at

that very time that it might be hardest to legislate because of ten-

sions between the two branches.
I also would like to say, with regard to the composition of the

Budget Committee, that whether it was intentional or not under
the 1974 Budget Act, the two Budget Committees have evolved into
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leadership committees, exercising, in my view, a somewhat ministe-
rial role.

I don't want to suggest they are irrelevant—completely irrele-

vant. But it has been a long time since those rare periods of bipar-
tisanship, in either House, in the budget process.

Indeed, I am hard pressed to give any examples other than
during the Muskie-Bellmon period when there was true bipartisan-
ship in bringing budget resolutions to the Floor of either House.
There are probably a few exceptions, but that was the great golden
period of that sort of thing.

Today that is net the case. The Budget Committee is basically a
leadership committee which suggests, to me, a couple things. There
is nothing wrong with leaving it as large as it is, but it could be
substantially reduced in size without having an impact, just like
the Rules Committee which Bob Michel was complaining about ear-
lier. I have got Mr. Dreier's attention.
The results are going to be the same, whether you have in the

House an 11-Member or 30-Member—whatever it is today—Budget
Committee. And I think it is useful to recognize that.
Thank you for this opportunity to be with you, and good luck in

your work, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman Boren. Thank you very much.
I think you both heard Congressman Michel talk about the possi-

bility of a joint Budget Committee.
Now, each of you have served and provided leadership on the

separate Budget Committees. How do you react to the thought of,

perhaps, having a Joint Budget Committee which would be, to
some degree at least, a leadership committee, and especially if you
had the President involved in signing the budget resolution?
Would this lead toward a sort of consensus developing earlier on,

do you think, possibly in the process in regard to the budget? Or do
you think we should still keep the two Budget Committees sepa-
rate? The two Houses?
Mr. Bellmon. Well, let me say—well, first let me say, I am not

sure I am agreeing that the President needs to be required to sign
the budget resolution.
He sends us his budget resolution when he sends us his budget.

And whether or not there is any point in asking him to take a
second look I really doubt. The creation of one joint Budget Com-
mittee, we almost have that now, we have a Conference Committee
on the Budget. It seems to me that each House needs a vehicle to

express its views before the two Houses meet in conference.
Mr. Gradison. That is where I come out, Mr. Chairman. I also

was trying to—you will have to help me on this. I was trying to
think if we have had any Joint Committees which have legislative

authority, that is can bring bills directly to the Floor of either
House. Maybe there are some. But those Joint Committees that I

think of offhand don't.

This is something to think about, but the two Houses aren't nec-

essarily going to view these in the same way. And it might be
better to have some clarification of their views and then work it

out in conference.
There is another possibility—I know, not one that you necessari-

ly want to consider seriously—but that is the possibility that there
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might be one-party controlling one House and one controlling the

other. And it might be clarifying—it might clarify where people
are, and what the positions of the parties are, and what the issues

are for the country, if those things are thrashed out separately and
then go to conference rather than just going to a deadlocked—and
that is really what it probably would be—a deadlocked Joint Com-
mittee.

Chairman Boren. I see.

Senator Bellmon, you talked about using—you said if there is not

a budget resolution, using the President's figures in the President's

submitted budget. You mean that committees, for example, would
not be able to—once the budget resolution is adopted, of course,

you raise a point of order that the committee has exceeded the ceil-

ing, for example.
Would those, in essence, become the ceilings in terms of any com-

mittee action prior to the adoption of a budget resolution?

Mr. Bellmon. That is the suggestion I make. I don't like the

notion that the whole process has to stop and wait for a lengthy
resolution of differences between the two Houses. I think it puts
some heat on the conferees to get on with their work if they knew
by a date certain if they didn't act that the appropriations process
would begin anyway using the President's numbers.
Chairman Boren. What about the earlier—I know you have ad-

vocated a portion of what Senator Kassebaum advocated in terms

of, at least, bringing the subcommittees of appropriation together
with the authorization committees.
How do you react to the suggestion that I asked Bob Michel

about that Senator Byrd had made that if you really go back to en-

forcing the rule that the appropriators cannot exceed authoriza-

tions—although I heard you say that in many cases the authoriza-

tions are virtually open ended—and could not legislate on appro-
priations bills and could not appropriate for things not authorized

that, in essence, you might have them operating an effective checks
and balance against more spending rather than less.

Is that wishful thinking or is that a possibility?
Mr. Bellmon. The only authorizing committees on which I have

served—and for which I have any memory—didn't take their work
very seriously. They just had no concept of what was available to

spend. They knew what they thought they needed for their pro-

grams, and that was their only concern. I don't see that the author-

izing process is that meaningful in an effort to restrain spending.
Mr. Gradison. Frankly, it is so easy to get waivers of all of these

provisions, as the House is currently organized, that I don't think
it would make a whole lot of difference one way or the other of

how it is actually set up.
I have often thought that a lot of the tensions and the frustra-

tions and the partisan arguments in the House could be reduced if

the rules adopted at the beginning were rules that would be fol-

lowed.
In other words, have one big fight at the beginning but then

follow those rules once adopted. But that is not really the way in

which it is done. And the frequency of waivers of basic rules like

the budget in the House, I think, is at the heart of a lot of the dis-

turbances in the other body this year that you are hearing about.
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They have the numbers available, but it is not an infrequent oc-

currence. It is, in fact, more likely than not there are major waiv-
ers of rules as bills proceed through the House.
Chairman Boren. I had the figures the other day. I don't have

them with me today. But I had the figures of the number of budget
point of orders raised in the Senate over the last several years, and
sort of a happy trend in that regard in that, for the most part,
there is a trend toward upholding—and I believe last year they
were all upheld—all the budget point of orders were upheld.
So instead of overturning them, the trend in the Senate at least

seems to be toward upholding the Budget Act point of orders when
they are raised, something of a good trend.

Would you think it might help us with the process if we were to

have a super majority in terms of waiving the Budget Act and
overturning the points of order?
Mr. Gradison. Mr. Chairman, it is easy for someone who suf-

fered for years and years, his total career, in the minority to advo-
cate super majorities for just about anything.
But I think we have got to recognize that elections count, that 51

percent should be able to do business, at least the way the House is

operated. The Senate's traditions, for a variety of good and suffi-

cient reasons, are different. But I have to conclude that decisions
like that are made—were made last November 3rd.

Chairman Boren. So you would keep them as a majority. But I

assume you would not allow for rules that would waive a budget
point of order so that someone could raise a budget point of order
on the Floor, then have it decided by majority vote? Is that what
you would
Mr. Gradison. Yes, that is basically what it is.

There is really a mismatch between the rules and the actual

practice. And I am just saying I think that there would be—it may
not bring peace and harmony to the House of Representatives, but
I think it would make a lot more sense to make the rules coincide
more with the actual practice. And they don't. And that is why
there are so many waivers.
Chairman Boren. On the two-year budget cycle—and both of you

to a degree have advocated multiyear budgeting—what would keep
us from going back—and we have looked somewhat at the experi-
ence of State legislatures that have two-year budgeting—what
would keep us from the temptation of going back and having sup-
plemental appropriations over and over again so that that really
became as much of an item as the normal appropriating process?
Would it be your idea—Senator Bellmon, you mentioned the re-

programming authority of the President, making reprogramming
easier, dealing with emergencies. Is that the main way you would
deal with that, to discourage breaching the rules, so to speak, of

the every-other-year process of appropriating?
Mr. Bellmon. Yes. And remember, we have supplemental now.

They probably aren't as onerous as they might become under a

two-year system of appropriations. But I think Congress would be
embarrassed if it found itself increasing spending through supple-
mentals year after year. I would think that a two-year budget cycle
might tend to decrease spending because you would have only half
as many opportunities to revisit those issues.
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Chairman Boren. Good point.
Do you agree with that, Congressman Gradison? Do you favor a

two-year budget cycle?
Mr. Gradison. I would prefer to phrase it, Mr. Chairman, mul-

tiyear and see how it works.

Sometimes, as in the negotiations for the budget enforcement,
what became the Budget Enforcement Act of 1990, something
longer not only seemed possible but probably, it was probably
easier to get a five-year deal in certain respects than to get a short-

er one. So I would say multiyear and leave it up to you to make
sure it happens.
Chairman Boren. On the sequestration part of your proposal,

you talk about setting the budget numbers in the budget resolution

and, in essence, in law, as I understand it, and that if we exceed—
or are you also thinking in terms of the reconciliation bill? I sup-
pose maybe both. If you exceed the figures in the budget resolution
and then ultimately the figures set forth in the reconciliation bill

that there would be automatic sequestration.
Would those sequestrations occur across the board or would they

be considered in the area of the offending area?
Mr. Bellmon. Yes.
Chairman Boren. How narrowly would you define—if they were

the offending area, how narrowly would you define that?
One of the things we have gotten into—the appropriators have

been saying we have done, and I don't know if this is the case or

not, but they have made the argument, we have done a better job
of staying within the targets than for example those committees
like Finance and Ways and Means that have entitlement spending
under their jurisdiction have done.
And so they, therefore, argue it is not fair for you to punish the

appropriators, in essence, or the functions under the appropriators
when they have met their targets or stayed within bounds by an
automatic reduction of spending in those areas, that the reductions

ought to come in the general areas where we have failed to meet
our budget targets.
Would you go across the board or would you go into categories,

and how would you define those?
Mr. Bellmon. I am not sure I am that up to date on how seques-

tration works. But it seems to me, it is wrong to punish programs
that haven't exceeded the limits. A way could be found just to

focus on the ones that are outside the range.
Chairman Boren. So the law would say that—you would set up,

you would say—to use, for example, Senator Lugar's example—ap-
propriate X billion dollars, $22 billion, whatever it happens to be
for food stamps this year, and if food stamps are found to exceed
that figure, you would simply have to change the qualifications
within that category to bring that spending within line. If it went
to 24, you would have to pare it back to 22, if you had set 22 as

your figure.
Mr. Gradison. Mr. Chairman, I would like to call to your atten-

tion some excellent work that was done on this subject by my
former Chairman, Leon Panetta. He argued—and I thought had a

very good point—that the base for sequestration should be abso-

lutely as broad as possible.
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The actual base that was being used for Gramm-Rudman was
tiny because once one starts to exempt this program, then, well, if

you exempt the farm program and you have exempted this cost of

living, then you have all the cost of living programs and so forth.

I understand, in principle—and I think what has been said by
Senator Bellmon makes good sense. In principle, I would say, as a

practical matter, the broader the sequestration and the broader the

base, the less likely the membership is to let it happen.
In a sense that is really the objective of sequestration. I mean, I

have come to the point of view of thinking that it is an intentional-

ly mindless approach, I mean, a scatter shot approach; and that is

a way, in a sense, of getting the attention of the whole Member-
ship. Even your program, even my program might be affected.

Whereas, these are limited, you can easily get to certain programs
which we don't have to worry about because they are protected and

they are not subject to the sequestration.
So many of the things which former Chairman Panetta included

in his recommended base were programs which, in the past, have
been exempt; and he was not arguing that he wanted those cuts.

He just was arguing that you are less likely to trigger sequestra-
tion if everyone's ox could be gored.
Chairman Boren. That is an interesting thought. I gather both

of you—and one of the major changes from what we do now in

terms of putting into the budget resolution entitlements—that you
both would feel that we have to have entitlements as a part of this

process and then as part of the benchmark, too, in determining
whether or not we have sequestration.
And I gather, from your last comment, you would say that enti-

tlement programs shouldn't be exempt from sequestration either?

Mr. Gradison. No. But I think there a lot to be said for having
this broad pay-go category and separating the entitlement pro-

grams from the discretionary or appropriated programs.
I am not trying to protect any committee in saying that. I just

think that the process is so different that it may make some sense.

And offhand, I think—and somebody may have given more thought
to this than I have—but offhand, I think that that part of the

Budget Enforcement Act of 1990 has worked fairly well.

Chairman Boren. Senator Nunn had an interesting amendment
before the Senate the other night in which he called for, in essence,
a sequestration, a cap on entitlement spending, followed by seques-
tration as part of the budget resolution so that if you exceed it—
but it was with a notice period—so that if you exceed it, if you
were found in your snapshot. And that is something I want to ask

you both about: Is an annual snapshot enough in terms of if we are

going to have some meaningful way of adjusting? Or do we need a

snapshot more often than that?
His plan was to give, for example, Finance and Ways and Means

Committee, if we were talking about an entitlement that was ex-

ceeding its cap, you would set a cap; and if it exceeded its cap, you
would give a certain period of notice, whether that is 60 or 90 days,
to the committees of jurisdiction before you began a sequestration
or an across-the-board cut in the pay out on entitlement programs.
And I suppose ultimately, it is an interesting question if we get
into the medical expenditures as well, whether or not all of a
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sudden providers would simply—if you had a 1 percent cut, that all

of a sudden—any beneficiary of a program, whether it is a pension,

say a health care provider or something else—all of a sudden they
would get 1 percent less, if the cap was breached.
He set those caps, but he also gave the committees a period of

time, a grace period, 60 or 90 days so that instead of having that

kind of approach, the committees would be able to come up with—
perhaps under expedited procedures I think you would have to add

that, that the full two Houses would have to act on the committee's
recommendations—a way of getting those entitlements brought
back within their caps as well.

Does that make sense to the two of you?
Mr. Gradison. Mr. Chairman, my recollection is that, in a sense,

there is a moving picture, not just a single snapshot in the sense

that there is an ongoing report card of the status. I know the pay-

go account, Chairman Panetta and I as Ranking Member used to

get that on an ongoing basis from OMB and CBO, as far as what I

believe you are referring to in the snapshot, which is the end of the

session, beginning of fiscal year.
Chairman Boren. Right, which would trigger
Mr. Gradison. Which does trigger a sequestration. I think that

makes some sense because, during the year, you don't really know
where you are until you are finished. It may be that the last appro-

priation bill is a very big appropriation bill or the last action on
medicare. So I think the key to this is for the Congress to know
where-how they are doing, whether they are a little over or a little

under or a lot over or a lot under as the year goes by, recognizing
that the day of reckoning will come when the trigger might be

pulled.
Chairman Boren. Senator Bellmon, any thoughts on how we

would handle the entitlement question on sequestration?
Mr. Bellmon. I really don't have any thoughts to add to what

Congressman Gradison has said. I think his suggestion is a good
one.

Chairman Boren. Well, it is encouraging to hear you both talk

about having to bring entitlements into the process somehow be-

cause, obviously, if we continue on down the line where we have

been, we are doing a relatively better job at holding other areas of

spending under control than we are entitlements which have just
been growing without constraint in many respects; and we are

more and more—a higher and higher percentage of our spending is

now taking place.
Vice Chairman Dreier?
Mr. Dreier. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.
Let me apologize to both of you gentlemen. You heard our leader

Bob Michel testify earlier about this problem as it relates to the
fact that 100 percent of the rules around which we have considered

legislation in the House have been restrictive rules; and for that

reason, there are many votes going on on the House Floor. And one
of the things that has come to the fore is that a number of Mem-
bers, for that reason, are delayed on some of their other obliga-
tions.

I would want to say I was just in the elevator with Lee Hamilton
who personally asked me to extend his apologies to you, as the
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House Chairman of this committee, for the fact that he had three
ambassadors sitting outside his office and had to rush back there.
So I extend apologies from Lee.

I thank you both for your very helpful testimony. I really wanted
to ask a question of Senator Bellmon first that has to do with this

question of Members serving on taxing and appropriating commit-
tees, as you outlined in your testimony.
Now, in the House, we have Members who serve on the Appro-

priations Committee prevented from serving on any other commit-
tee at all in the House, and so appropriators cannot authorize. A
number of other witnesses have testified about this concern of

having Senators who serve on authorizing committees and also
serve on the same appropriation subcommittee and are then in a
position where they don't need to proceed with authorization be-
cause they will do it in the appropriations process.
Now, in your testimony, Senator Bellmon, you say that a Senator

could serve on an authorizing committee but could not serve on the
same appropriating subcommittee that relates to that issue where
they authorize.
But the question that I would have is: What happens when that

process gets to the full committee on appropriations and, even
though that Senator has not served on the subcommittee that re-

lates to the area where they are authorizing, they still would be
able to address it, it seems to me, at the full committee level; so
how would you propose to address that concern?
Mr. Bellmon. Well, I believe, in your absence, we talked about

the fact that the authorizing process generally doesn't take the re-

sponsibility too seriously.
The fact is that most—a lot of authorizing committees put in lan-

guage saying whatever funds are required, and there is very little

concept, very little knowledge of what the effect or the impact of

authorizing committee's decisions is on the budget, and most au-

thorizing committees are concerned about getting on with the pro-
gram they have under consideration and are not that worried
about busting the budget or causing an addition to the deficit.

So I don't see that
Mr. Dreier. You don't see a problem between the appropriating

and authorizing, the Members serving on both, on the full commit-
tee level?

Mr. Bellmon. I do not.

Mr. Dreier. Bill?

Mr. Gradison. Thank you, Mr. Dreier.

First, just a bit of history. And I know we can't go back, but
prior to the Civil War, the Committee on Ways and Means of the
House of Representatives had responsibility both for raising the
revenue and spending it.

The workload got too high; and during the Civil War, it was split
into two committees, the Ways and Means Committee—not very
different in its jurisdiction from what it has today—to raise the
revenue, and then the Appropriations Committee.
By the way, one of the interesting historical footnotes is that the

then Chairman of the old Ways and Means Committee, having the
choice, decided to become Chairman of the new Appropriations
Committee, which tells you a little bit about where the pleasure-
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pain principle—if nothing else, is evidenced by that. There is no

way to go back.
I tell you, I have thought a lot about this in connection with the

creation of the committee on which you all are so hard at work. I

truly believe that the most important and, indeed, perhaps the

only significant thing that ought to be considered with regard to

committee structure, is this matter of Members being spread so

thin.

In other words, I don't know any practical way to anticipate the

way in which subject areas will break down 10 or 20 years from
now. If health is a hot topic, the Speaker could always have a spe-
cial committee on health. He has got the power to do it now.

Speaker O'Neill did that during the energy crisis during the Carter
administration. It could be done again.
This matter of Members being spread too thin necessarily forces

a look at the functions of some committees. But it probably has
more to do with the size of the committees. And there is a lot that
could be done without disturbing committee structure by gradually
diminishing the size of the committees and not even doing it over-

night, just doing it as Members retire and so forth. I know that is

easier said than done. But with regard to the relationship of this

committee structure to the budget process, I personally think much
more would be accomplished by the multiyear budgets that we
were talking about earlier than by changing committee organiza-
tion.

Mr. Dreier. The concern that was raised came from George
Brown who Chairs the Science, Space, and Technology Committee.
And he talked about the Senate counterpart who was able to really
avoid the authorization process because he served on that Appro-
priations Subcommittee which was able to address those issues.

So the concern that I am raising, really, here—and again we ad-
dress it in the House by not allowing an appropriator to serve on
an authorization committee.
But let me proceed with another issue here. Then I will yield to

Senator Domenici for some questions.
In testimony, our colleague Mr. Kasich last week raised several

issues. And I wondered, Bill, if you would respond to those.
You referred to the fact that there is this six-year limitation for

service on the Budget Committee. And I will just ask all three of

these, then you can answer them in a group.
First, do you believe that that process of rotation continues to be

a good idea?
And the second is: Do you believe that the Budget Committee

should be granted greater enforcement authority?
And the third would be whether or not the Budget Committee

should retain all jurisdiction over the Budget Act itself.

Mr. Gradison. With regard to rotation, I think that it becomes a
less important issue if we think of the Budget Committee as a lead-

ership committee that at the end of the day is going to do what the
leaders want anyway. And in that sense, it doesn't really make a
lot of difference whether there is rotation or there isn't rotation.

I think the rotation idea was a very necessary element when the
committee was newly created and there was a desire to have a cer-
tain number of people from Appropriations and Ways and Means
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and other committees serving on it. But I don't see it as a major
factor today.
With regard to enforcement authority, yes, I would be very inter-

ested in ways that the Budget Committee, as a committee, perhaps
through actions that it could take on the Floor or some preferential
motions that it might offer on the Floor might be able to increase
the opportunity for enforcement of the budget resolutions once
passed. But I also—and we had talked about this while you were
away. I also recognize that the votes to waive the budget resolution
are pretty routine; almost—I can't think of an exception—almost
always approved. And my main suggestion which I made earlier

was, my main comment was that there is a mismatch between the

practices of the House and the rules of the House; and it might be
better if the Budget Act isn't going to be regularly enforced, to
write that in the rules than to go through these fights, which, as
far as I can see, just engender partisan frustration but, in the end,
really don't accomplish a whole lot.

Mr. Dreier. Basically, then, the Budget Act has very little mean-
ing if we are going to continue to waive it or write it into the rules
where we don t do that up in the Rules Committee?
Mr. Gradison. Absolutely. There is a lot to be said for—I don't

often say this, Mr. Chairman, but there is a lot to be said for the

way the Senate deals with this issue over the way in which the
House deals with it.

Your third point was?
Mr. Dreier. The third point had to do with retaining jurisdiction

of the Budget Act itself.

Mr. Gradison. This is an historical accident that the Rules Com-
mittee has that jurisdiction—seeing as you are on the Rules Com-
mittee, I can understand that you might like—Members might like
to retain it; but I don't see that it has anywhere near the relevance
now that it had in 1974.

I don't see where the Rules Committee is, singularly, in a posi-
tion to review these matters and has special knowledge. They are

very competent, but I don't think they have special competence in
this field.

Mr. Dreier. Well, I will tell you that, based on my service on
that committee, I am not fighting for more jurisdiction on other
items based on the outcome of most issues.
But thank you very much. I appreciate the testimony that you

both have provided. It has been very helpful.
Thanks again, Bill, for encouraging me to participate on this

committee. We are looking forward to a good product.
Mr. Gradison. The committee is in excellent hands. I really am

grateful for you under all the circumstances, Mr. Chairman,
making it possible for me to be here.
Chairman Boren. Thank you very much, Congressman Dreier.
I am going to ask—Senator Domenici has now been able to join

us. He serves, of course, as the Vice Chairman on the Senate side.

I call on Senator Domenici for any questions he might have.
Senator Domenici. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.
Let me say to my two very good friends of longstanding that I

am a living example of the fact that you can't do everything; you
can't leave it like it is and expect Senators to do what they are sup-



37

posed to do. There is no way I can get here very often, and I was

supposed to be at every one of these meetings to try to help my
Chairman. But I apologize. You catch me in the middle of this

budget process, and I just have been unable to be here.

But I did read your testimony, Henry. I did not read yours, Bill;

but I think I understand what you are advocating.
Let me give you one interesting observation and ask you if you

don't think it kind of cries out for a little bit of help. If you look at

the President's budget, it is functional. Henry, you know 050 de-

fense, 051, a little subsetting of defense, 053, a little subsetting of

defense, and then 270 is, whatever it is, transportation and the

like. And then the budget resolution comes along, and it does it the

same way so that if you want to look and see what is being recom-
mended by the Budget Committee in education and so and so, you
find the same function in the President's budget; and there is a

direct correlation.

But when you go there to find out how we spent the money,
there is no correlation between the appropriation bills and the

functions of government as outlined by the President or the budget
process. It almost seems like, I don't know, the origin of this very
diverse jurisdiction. It is almost like you took the functions of gov-
ernment and just threw them out on a table and then you grabbed
them and you put a certain number in the Energy and Natural Re-

sources Committee and a certain number in Labor-HEW, and a cer-

tain number elsewhere because you cannot—without an assem-

blage of accountants and number crunchers, you cannot relate the

appropriations process and appropriating of money to the budget or

to the President's budget.
It seems to me that it would not be asking too much to at least

try to get out of this reform that they would be similar. You know,
the Appropriations is so powerful that maybe we ought to put all

the rest of government on their schedule, maybe take their sub-

committees and have the President prepare a budget based upon
their subcommittees, right? At least it would be common.
You could, from year to year, say, here is what we appropriated;

here is what the President asked for. You understand that—both of

you understand that is not the case right now. That is done by
?

budgeteers in a very arcanely named process called "crosswalking.
'

You crosswalk from the functionals to the Appropriations Commit-
tee and then you add them up and make sure the totals are right.

But it seems to me, you don't have as good a handle on what is

happening to government and year-to-year evaluation of where you
have been and where you are going. And even—my last observa-

tion—as the President of the United States right now goes through
a very dramatic exercise in increasing spending, while he is de-

creasing spending—and they are almost a wash in case you are

wondering—you talk so much about cutting; they are just darn
near a wash. The President cuts 131 in all of domestic, but he adds
124 all in domestic, but they are all hunched up in terms of the

appropriation process because they won't carry them the same as

the President. They will be pulled out of everywhere in the Presi-

dent's budget, and you are not going to be able to follow them. And
when the allocation occurs—and that is the process of redistribut-

ing the totality of the allowable expenditures among the non-de-
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fense subcommittees, that is the process, the allocation process, you
aren't really going to be able to succinctly see whether the Presi-

dent is getting what he wanted or not.

My guess is the first time through, he will get it; or they will try.
But by the end of the year, it won't be there. They will be changed
all over the place by the appropriators.
So wouldn't it be that if you want to start with something that

you ought to make these processes similar, that the President's

budget is on the same functional totals as the appropriation proc-
ess and vice versa? Either one or both?
Mr. Bellmon. Senator, you are dead right. This thought that you

have just expressed so eloquently is one that Senator Muskie and I

dealt with back in the beginning of the budget process on the
Senate side. We thought it was insane to do what we do, this cross-

walking. Nobody understands it except the people who do it. Maybe
they don't even understand it.

But when we tried to get OMB to adopt the same categorical
breakdown that the Appropriations Committee uses, they laughed
at us. They thought our system is—well, it has grown up because of

the turf battles that go on. And when you talk about getting the
Senate Appropriations Subcommittee Chairmen to give up some of

these areas where they have oversight, they are not interested. So I

think it is a great idea.

But unless the Congress is more puritanical now than it was 16

years ago, it probably isn't going to happen; but it ought to happen.
Senator Domenici. Bill.

Mr. Gradison. I have to admit, Senator, I have wondered at

times whether the present system is just a way to give the Appro-
priations Committees the maximum opportunity to do what they
want to do, within the totals, rather than to follow the lines as

they are spelled out in the functional breakdowns used by the

Budget Committees.
The only way that I think it could work would be for the Con-

gress, which does have a law requiring the President to submit a

budget, to amend that to specify exactly the format to be followed,
not the numbers, but format it to be followed by that budget. I

think it would be a little harder for OMB to laugh at you then.
Senator Domenici. Well, but they laugh at you because they are

right in laughing. I mean, it is a laughing matter. There is no real

qualitative reason for doing it the way we do in the subcommittees
on appropriation.
For example—and then we will get off the subject—you have one

subcommittee that has HUD, Space, and Veterans in it. With all

our dramatic ability, with our brains to put that into sort of one
function of government—I mean, it would kind of be the spacy vet-

erans need housing—maybe that would be a way to describe it—
but clearly there is no way.
Now let me move to another—Senator Bellmon, I read your sug-

gestions, and I frankly believe that the idea of having a two-year
budget and a two-year appropriations with some automatic adjust-
ments allowable without adopting a whole new budget resolution,

perhaps automatic every six months or so, based on the real dy-
namics of the economic indicators, I mean, you ought to make that

adjustment; you now know you were wrong, make the adjustment
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automatically. And you have another budget resolution, but that

wouldn't have to even be voted on. You would just change it.

I think it would save more time and accomplish more than
almost anything that has been discussed. And I guess I wonder,
from your standpoint, Bill—because I got this idea from Henry
years ago and I have been advocating it—do you see any reason—
what is the reason that Congress is so violently opposed to this?

Why would they not want this?

Mr. Gradison. My sense of it is that appropriators like to be at

their task every year. They like to make those decisions. I don't

think I have to elaborate, necessarily, on why that is the case.

I would certainly advocate multiyear budgeting, maybe more
than two years. The Budget Enforcement Act of 1990 tried to do it

for five years in certain respects, and that part of it was reasonably
well accepted, the fact that it was multiyear. Multiyear authoriza-

tions do exist for some programs. In fact, for quite a number of pro-

grams.
It is only in the appropriations side where there has been this

reluctance. It may be—and this is pure speculation on my part—it

may be that some subcommittees would be more willing to try this

than others. And that is a judgment which you have had to make—
would have to make.
But my hunch is that an attempt to require two-year appropria-

tions—I mean of the two Appropriations Committees in the two
Houses—would be very difficult to sell—I mean it is a fight worth

doing, but I think it would be a very hard sell.

Senator Domenici. Henry, Senator Bellmon, why do you think it

is so hard to get it done over here?
Mr. Bellmon. I was on the Appropriations Committee, as you

know, as well as the Budget Committee, and it is enough to drive

you insane. You just can't keep up with everything. But at the

same time, I think appropriators like to appropriate. They are in

the most powerful positions of anybody in the Congress, and I

think they look upon going to—to doing half as much appropriat-

ing is losing half their clout.

Senator Domenici. Well, I tell you what, Mr. Chairman, and our
two witnesses, what I have heard as the most succinct argument
against two-year appropriations—and I don't know that I have
heard it from a Member, but I have heard it sitting around talking
with staffers and others—it is that there is so little oversight occur-

ring with reference to the Federal Government's appropriated ac-

counts that the only oversight occurring with any regularity is that

which is done annually by the subcommittees of Appropriations.
Now, frankly, my answer to that is, if the public only knew that

that was all the oversight because clearly subcommittees try their

best; but it is, at its best, very minor oversight.
I thought the Bellmon proposal for two years was one year on

budget and appropriation and one year for oversight, and the over-

sight could then be done by the committees who are supposed to be

doing oversight because we wouldn't have any Floor activities that
had to do with appropriations or budgeting.
Was that the concept?
Mr. Bellmon. That is one of the reasons for going to a biennial

budget.
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Mr. Gradison. Mr. Chairman, this is a definitional problem. But
my hunch is that a lot of that oversight would not be the kind of
broad programmatic review that you and I would like to see, con-
sideration of alternative means of organizing or funding programs
and all that.

I think it would tend to be more the rifle shot things that we are
accustomed to where something may appear to be a little out of

whack, and the TV cameras are willing to show up.
Senator Domenici. I noticed both of you seem to be adopting

some concept of budgeting. And I don't want to take full credit for

it, but I introduced a bill on this subject about six years ago that

said, let's have joint leadership committees instead of the standing
Committee on the Budget.

I even suggested that we have one for both bodies in my legisla-

tion, that it be joint and that it meet under leadership auspices,
produce a budget, then take it back to both Houses, there need not
ever be a conference.
Are any of you adopting that as your proposal?
I think you are, Henry.
Mr. Bellmon. I didn't go so far as the Senator has gone. I recom-

mended a separate leadership committee for each House.
Senator Domenici. In either event, it seems that the purpose of

all this, ultimately, is to try to find a way to have the budget reso-

lution more effective; both of you suggest different ways.
Frankly, I believe that the frustration that is occurring on the

Floor of the Senate right now, because we get to amend things, is

that it is dawning on everybody that the amendments don't mean
anything.
You know, if you say, I am adding $10 billion to education and I

am taking $10 billion out of 16 programs that are non-education
and they are equal, you really tell your people back home, I had a

pro-education amendment, right?
But there is nothing in the current budget process that said the

result, when the appropriators finish, will be that way, right?
You both agree with that, don't you?
Mr. Gradison. That is correct.

Senator Domenici. Because appropriators divide up the whole
pot of money in an allocation process, and they decide whether
they are going to increase the funds on education or not in that

very, very—nobody can understand the process called 302(b) alloca-

tion by each Appropriations Committee.
Nonetheless, that amendment that I just described will be voted

on. And perhaps one of the biggest hoaxes of all is that those who
weigh the Members in terms of what they have voted for or against
dictate that vote as real; and they say everybody that voted for

that is pro-education. You know the one I just described.
In fact, we went down so far once, Mr. Chairman, where we had

an amendment, believe it or not, on a budget resolution, maybe 14

years ago, that said, let's add $20 million to immunization; and it

was seriously taken as an immunization amendment when it had
no effect whatsoever. Appropriators didn't put $20 million in im-
munization after that amendment was adopted because they divid-

ed up the totality of it the way they wanted.



41

So the budget process grew up as a compromise document with
the pulling and pushing of the appropriators wanting to give up
something but not too much. That is as clear as you read the legis-
lation.

Now we cannot even get a binding vote on how much we are

going to spend on defense. I guess we all understand that hue and
cry around here, why don't we vote on defense three times? Well,
the vote on the budget is meaningless on defense because the ap-
propriators take it away from it anytime they want, spend it else-

where, unless we have binding fire walls, unless we change the

budget process and say, you are approving three budgets—one for

defense, one for foreign aid, and one for domestic or any combina-
tion thereof—and whatever you don't spend in one goes to deficit

reduction but can't be intermingled. Then the vote would be very
important on the Floor, and amendments to the functional total

would be very important.
Now, if we can't get some of those kinds of things out of this

reform, we are really not going to make a lot of headway with ref-

erence to the budget process and the appropriation process and the

membership having more to say with how things come out than

they do now.
Would you tend to agree with that kind of observation, either of

you?
Mr. Gradison. Totally.
Mr. Bellmon. I certainly agree.
Senator Domenici. Mr. Chairman, I, again, want to say for the

record I remain totally committed to this process, even though I

have been absent a little more than I should have been. I will try
very hard to adjust my schedule.
Chairman Boren. We understand. There have been so many

things going on and we have been disrupted by a lot of votes on the
Floor and other negotiations off the Floor on the budget matters
that are now pending.

Let me ask just one last question of both of you, because you
have both conducted yourself in this way, and Congressman Gradi-
son made reference to the period of time when Senator Muskie and
Senator Bellmon were leading the Budget Committee as a period in

which the process really functioned as we hoped it would and par-
ticularly that it functioned in a bipartisan fashion.
One of the things that concerns me, and I have tried to follow

that same policy when I chaired the Intelligence Committee and
for a period of time we were able to do that on the Senate side with
Senator Cohen, Senator Murkowski serving as my vice chairman
during that period of time, but I think—and we see it here in this

budget process this year. We have almost total partisan polariza-
tion. If anything, it is getting worse. We have seen it in the House
for a number of years. It is now increasing in the Senate, I would
say by leaps and bounds, and I think all of us worry about it. We
worry about it from several points of view.

One, it is not good for the country to have this kind of polariza-
tion. If we are going to solve these problems, these votes are going
to be very, very difficult. If we are going to make real reductions in

the budget deficits, it is going to take some real sacrifice, and it

means that there has to be a joint political responsibility for doing
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it. The other thing is that if we are locked into being simply a

voting in lock step on these matters from a partisan point of view,
there is really not a way for Members to deliberate as they should
and to use their individual capabilities, their consciences to come
up with what can be done. It is becoming more and more difficult

for Members who want to work together across the aisle from each
other and to form working groups that are bipartisan to be able to

effect such agreements. I find that is harder every single year.
Why do you, as you look back on this, and observe it, Senator

Bellmon, now observing it from some distance and, Congressman
Gradison, really just recently leaving this body, but I know he saw
it and I know it is probably part of the reason why he decided to

leave the body, growing frustration over this kind of polarization,

why do you think it is, and is there anything that we can do, be-

cause when we talk about reforming Congress, we obviously are

going to have to have a tremendous amount of bipartisanship as we
look at not only the budget process, we are going to be looking at

the committee structure very, very soon.

We have Members that we already talked with, you talked about
how it was spreading yourself just between Budget and Appropria-
tions. The average Member now serves on 12 committees and sub-

committees. We have one Member that serves on 23 on the Senate
side. I mean, it is an absolute impossibility. Our time is so frac-

tured. But it is going to take some real bipartisanship to change
that, for example, and to reduce the number of committees, the
number of committee assignments, and to move forward all these
issues we are talking about, ethics, but especially as we talk about
the legislative product, not just process, because as you both said,

process can't substitute for will and it can't substitute for sub-

stance and the right decisions being made.
What do we do about that and what do you think is causing the

increased partisanship that we are seeing and is there anything
that can be done to try to reverse it or is it simply a matter of,

again, individual acts of will by Members who decide they are

going to work together and try to fly in the face of what is becom-
ing more polarization. Any thoughts that either one of you have on
that?
Mr. Bellmon. Well, Mr. Chairman, I am not sure what I am

going to say is right on target, but let me explain what happened
with Senator Muskie and myself. When I first went on the Budget
Committee as Ranking Member, I have to admit I was in terror of
Senator Muskie. He had a reputation of having this violent temper
and he was a very loquacious man, and I was a very junior Senator
and a Minority Member and all the rest of it.

I went to him sort of hat in hand and in fear and trepidation and
suggested to him that we fight our battles in committee and that
no matter who won or who lost that we stand together on the

Floor, and this way we did present a bipartisan view. We had our
differences and we worked together or worked for opposite causes

perhaps in the committee, but once the committee decided, both
the Chairman and the Ranking Member stood bound by that com-
mittee decision. I am not sure what goes on now and I am not sug-
gesting it might work with the new arrangement, but it clearly
worked for Senator Muskie and me.
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Then I have to give him credit, he never once violated that un-

derstanding. I don't know whether that bears on what you are

asking or not
Chairman Boren. I think it probably helps. At least in the Intel-

ligence Committee, we really tried to thrash it around and avoid
roll call votes often in the committee. We would have our differ-

ences of opinion. We tried to meet each other halfway and actually
form a consensus so that more often than not we probably voted

only one time out of one hundred where we had a dispute. We
really worked at dispute resolution without voting. Voting, itself,

tends to polarize.
Then we did come out with a united front behind the committee

point of view, once it was agreed upon.
Mr. Gradison?
Mr. Gradison. Senator, I spent 30 odd years in public office, and,

frankly, never thought that I was elected to be an automatic vote
for my party. It got me in a lot of trouble with my party, both back
home and here, but that was just my view of—and I wouldn't

change it looking backwards. I was very comfortable with that. It

isn't that I didn't vote with my party a great deal of the time, but
there were some notable instances where I thought they were

wrong, and I would vote the other way, something you are quite
familiar with yourself, and I know that.

I have to say at the same time, moving away from the personal
aspect of this—and we all have to live with ourselves first and last

and always—there may be some advantages to what is going on

today in clarifying in the public mind who stands for what, and to

the extent that out of these debates comes a clarification of con-

trary points of view on things as fundamental as budget policy,

which, after all, is the most important statement of objectives, how
are we going to allocate scarce resources in the next 12 months,
that is a pretty important issue.

There may be some advantages. I don't mean partisan advan-

tages, but advantages to the public which seems to get us all mixed
up in terms of who stands for what. I have to acknowledge, though,
immediately, that the way in which these votes are done—and you
have had a series of sense of Senate resolutions to which I am re-

ferring—could understandably lead even the closest observer of the

scene, a real C-SPAN junkie, wondering who is for what and it

doesn't take much imagination to see how these things could be
used in 30-second commercials next year. So I know I am not

coming down solidly on one side or the other.
I would like to tell myself, this too shall pass, and it may. Part of

this, I think, may be the frustration of the Majority party in the

Congress to 12 years of the other party controlling the White
House, and that may heighten this. My hunch, just as a long-term
observer of the scene, is that as time moves on, that inevitably the

Congress will start to act as a Congress and independent reviewer
of the recommendations of the executive and not automatically
support it, but at this stage of the game I would expect the Majori-
ty party—and I think they are right to do just what they are doing.
It is just I find it really hard to believe, based upon history and
human nature and the way in which we all have to represent our
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districts and our States, that it is going to continue for very long.

Maybe a year or two.
Senator Domenici. Mr. Chairman.
Chairman Boren. Yes, sir.

Senator Domenici. I think you raise a question that almost re-

quires a partisan response. Frankly, when you consider that budget
resolutions are almost always the first big act of a new President
or of a year because hardly anything happens before you do that
first one, first, they take on an undue measure of partisanship if,

as has always been the case, the Presidents prepare their own
budget, however formidable the sea change is or isn't, they prepare
their own, and that is too late to expect the opposition party to sit

down and talk about doing things differently. Very, very difficult,

point number one.
I don't know that I have a recommendation for change, but I

have a recommendation for Presidents. I mean, if they want it to

be bipartisan, they can't do it the way this President did it because
it is a sea change in terms of what he wants done and Republicans
weren't asked what they thought about it until it was all done, so
in a sense this budget resolution should, if we are capable of doing
our job right, pointing out a very, very big difference between the
two parties and a very formidable burden on the President and his

party because everybody is going to know when this is finished it is

theirs.

Secondly, that is not going to work to get the deficit under con-

trol, what I have just described, and this package is not going to

get the deficit under control, because to get the deficit under con-
trol for the foreseeable future you have got to get at mandatories
and entitlements, and you can't do those unless it is bipartisan, in

my opinion.
I cannot fathom a Democratic President and a Democratic Con-

gress singularly as partisans regardless of their power. If they
wanted to they could do it this year, they have got plenty of power;
they didn't do it. It is not that he wouldn't have done it, the Presi-

dent didn't ask for it. There is nothing, in this budget that is going
to restrain the domestic budget of the United States in a perma-
nent manner, and that is now coming out.

CBO said it last night, the analysis of the budget resolution,
almost verbatim quote, "nothing in the budget resolutions in either
House that will get the deficit under control over the long term."
So it seems to me that this notion of bipartisan-partisan might
switch with reference to what you are trying to do, but if budgets
are the policy statements of a Nation, then where better to have a

Republican Party and a Democratic Party differ?

If we don't differ in policies, not in objectives because both par-
ties say jobs, prosperity, low inflation, sustained economic growth,
that is our goal, and I think we all said at the lowest possible tax

rate, although I am not quite sure that I would agree that that is

part of the current White House entourage of qualities. Maybe it

is. So it seems to me that it depends on what you are trying to do.

And one last thought, why worry so much about whether a

budget resolution is festered with partisanship when we don't seem
to be that worried about the fact that the Ways and Means Com-
mittee is about as partisan as you can get. I don't know very many
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Republicans—you may be one, and I think in the past 10 years

maybe on capital gains once, Representative Archer from Texas, at

the end of last year may have had a victory, but other than nib-

bling around the edges, it is Democratic, right, what they do in

Ways and Means, surely is more so on that side than it is on our
side.

And what about authorization? The committees don't have much
to say about a bill.

What about appropriations? What, everybody gets a few of the

goodies, there is some bipartisanship, so I don't worry that much
about a budget resolution being partisan or nonpartisan, other
than if you can't get a budget resolution because you don't have

enough votes, you have a hell of a problem.
Senator Bellmon, I wanted to comment on one thing. You men-

tioned that if you don't get a budget resolution under your ap-

proach that you should go by the President's budget. I would sug-

gest that a far better way to do it so that you are more apt to get
action in Congress is to do it in the following way: Say if you don't

get a budget resolution as prescribed, get a two-year budget resolu-

tion, leadership-oriented, but you can't get it, I think the law
should read that you appropriate off last year's levels, and I think
that really is hard on a Congress because they don't want to appro-

priate off last year's levels, and that would be a pretty good
hammer. So, say, if you don't get something, you are going to have
an appropriation process you don't like. Other than that, I thank

you very much and appreciate your comments.
Chairman Boren. I think that suggestion has, in fact, been

brought to us, maybe by you, but other witnesses that we might
also, but I think the point—that you might use last year's figures,
but the point has been made if you can't agree on the budget reso-

lution, it should not freeze the whole process in place and there
should be leverage to help make it move.

Perhaps you are more optimistic than I on the partisan question.

Perhaps all I can say is whether we get to reconciliation and actu-

ally doing the job and whether we get into entitlements, which we
are going to require bipartisanship, and the only thing I worry
about is I think what happens is that when you do get extreme

partisanship, you get polarization, which tends to go both to the

right and to the left to a degree that it leaves the majority, the real

majority of the people of the country who are moderates disenfran-

chised by the choices that they are put between, and more and
more we are getting ourselves in procedural situations, either to

the right or to the left, where we are disenfranchised in terms of

choice for those that I think want to put the country in a moder-
ate, reasonable direction, but
Mr. Gradison. Mr. Chairman, also, I sometimes have had the im-

pression during my service that it really isn't easy to come out of a

very partisan consideration of an important measure.
Chairman Boren. That is true.

Mr. Gradison. Then go on to the next one and say let's work to-

gether.
Chairman Boren. It is very hard, it takes time.
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Mr. Gradison. The well does get poisoned, particularly if it hap-
pens over and over again. It is a little like Charlie Brown and Lucy
and the football.

Chairman Boren. It may be that a lot of this has to be changed
at the committee stage and committee-by-committee and then pre-

senting joint agreements to the Senate. It can be done probably
more easily at the committee phase than it can be later on. I think
there is an interesting example from the history of the Budget
Committee.

Well, again we thank you both very, very much for being with
us. We will meet again on Thursday, April 1st. Senator Ford will

be our final witness and he will talk about biennial budgeting, then
we will have an open forum of four Members of the House and
three of the Senate, freshmen Members, and I think having the
freshmen Members with us is very important because they are a
major force for reform of the process, and we are anxious to have
their suggestions. So we will stand in recess until Thursday.
[Whereupon, at 4:40 p.m., the committee was adjourned to recon-

vene, Thursday, April 1, 1993.]
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Mr. Chairman, I would like to thank you for the opportunity to appear before

this distinguished panel for a second time. Today, I would like to discuss the budget

process. This is an arcane process to which the Congress has felt compelled to add layer

upon layer of revisions in the attempt to control our individual spending and revenue

actions.

Let me provide some historical perspective. Forgive me if much of what I have

to say is familiar, but I think we have to re-think this entire process.

Before the 1974 Budget Impoundment and Control Act, the only way to get the

entire budget picture was to add up all the various spending and revenue decisions as

finalized at the beginning of a fiscal year.

The 1974 Budget Act for the first time required Congress to look at the budget as

a whole, at the start of the Congressional budget cycle. The budget resolution was to

relate revenue and spending decisions and require Congress to set overall priorities.

Through a system of overall spending and revenue limits, committee allocations and

points of order, these overall priorities were to be enforced as individual spending,

revenue and debt measures were acted on throughout the year, in preparation of the

beginning of the new fiscal year.

Congress, in the mid 1980's, faced with growing deficits, turned to an additional

layer of budget enforcement procedures in an attempt to force upon itself the discipline

to bring down those deficits. I am referring to the various versions of Gramm-Rudman.

Congress first established overall deficit targets which initially contemplated a balanced

budget by fiscal year 1991.

Those deficit targets, if not met by Congressional action, would have been met

by an automatic sequester
- across-the-board cuts -- of all non-exempt programs. The

latest version of Gramm-Rudman, effective through FY 1995, basically provides only for

categorical sequesters. The overall deficit targets are in effect nullified because they are

adjusted every year to reflect economic and technical changes.

Now, in theory, under the current budget process, Congress has sufficient

controls over spending decisions with the budget resolution setting overall priorities,

which are then enforced through overall limits, committee allocations and points of

(47)
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order, as actual spending and revenue legislation moves through Congress. And the

statutory debt limit provides an additional hurdle that has to be increased when annual

deficits add to the overall debt.

In theory, the discretionary caps and pay-as-you-go rules should provide an

additional layer of control. And, finally, in theory, there should be no spending that

has not been authorized by law.

But, in fact, the existing process does not provide the control over budgetary

decisions that was originally envisioned when these various processes were put in

place.

I would like to go through just a few of the reasons why I believe the

Congressional budget process has become so ineffective. My comments are directed

primarily at the House.

First, the Congressional budget resolution has become a political statement of the

two parties. There is no longer give and take between individual Members to agree

upon a budget resolution that governs the individual spending and revenue bills later

in the process. Members are put in a take-it-or-leave-it position on the resolution

reported by the Budget Committee or any alternative budget proposals that are

presented.

The practice has further developed that any alternatives must be in the form of

complete substitutes, so there can be no cut-and-bite amendments to the reported

budget resolution on the Floor of the House. Thus, a denial of the opportunity to

reprioritize spending decisions in the broadest sense.

Now, as individual spending bills move through the Congress, the House

routinely waives the Budget Act points of order - the very tools to prevent us from

violating our budget goals and targets.

It has gotten to the point that the House Rules Committee provides blanket

waivers and doesn't bother to specify which points of order are being violated. During

the 102nd Congress there were 78 blanket waivers and only 9 specified Budget Act

waivers, so Members have no idea exactly how many times the Budget Act was waived.

Before the 99th Congress there were very few blanket waivers of the House Rules - four

in the 98th Congress, four in the 97th Congress and none in the 96th Congress.

Second, a factor in the inability to directly affect spending decisions is the fact

that what is debated is so closely controlled and carefully structured by the Majority

Party. To date during the 103rd Congress, the House has not considered a single bill

under an open rule. We no longer have an open process where Members can have

amendments to amendments, to get at individual spending items.

Furthermore, many programs are funded which are no longer or may never have

been authorized. In fiscal year 1993, $31 billion in appropriations lacked specific

authorizations by House authorizing committees.
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And the structure of the budget has changed. Today over 60% of the federal

budget is on automatic pilot
— where unless Congress goes in and changes the

underlying statute of the many mandatory and entitlement programs, spending will

continue to grow based on new entrants and higher costs. This is certainly the case for

healthcare spending.

Recently, we have also seen the discretionary spending caps and pay-as-you-go

rules overridden by just declaring additional spending an emergency, although there

many Members will dispute whether this new spending is in response to an actual

emergency.

The bottom line is that any control that Congress has imposed upon itself by law

or rule can be changed or waived by subsequent Congressional action.

I believe that the time has come where we must step back and look at the big

picture. We need to make a bold change in our attitudes as to how we approach the job

of making budgetary decisions for this nation. It is time to get back to the basics: outgo

should not exceed what is coming into the federal coffers. In plain English, don't spend

what you don't have.

That is why I am advocating the passage of a balanced budget constitutional

amendment. This constitutional amendment should be sent to the States for a debate so

that the citizens of the United States can express themselves on this issue.

Now, once a balanced budget constitutional amendment is adopted we as

lawmakers will still have to grapple with how this broad concept will be implemented

through our legislative process.

The key elements of a balanced budget constitutional amendment are: first, the

requirement that total outlays cannot exceed total receipts for a fiscal year unless three-

fifths of the whole number of each House provides by law for a specific excess of

outlays; and second, the requirement that the limit on the public debt shall not be

increased, unless three-fifths of the whole number of each House shall provide by law

for such an increase.

There would have to be agreement iront by a super-majority vote of Congress

in order for a deficit to occur in any year.

As we contemplate how Congress would operate under the requirements of a

balanced budget constitutional amendment, I am advocating a budget two-step. First

Congress and the President would agree on how much we take in and spend out and

any resulting deficit. The second step would be to divide up the pie to determine how it

should be spent.

This procedure could be implemented in the interim, as the constitutional

amendment is being debated by Congress and then by the States.
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In the first step, I propose that this aggregate-only budget be in the form of a joint

resolution so that Congress and the President would have to agree on these levels. If a

deficit is contemplated, as it may well be during the first few years, then this joint

resolution would have to be adopted by a three-fifths vote by each House. So this

difficult vote would be taken up front.

Only then would the President, based upon these aggregates, be required to send

to Congress a detailed budget proposal. Congress would then be required to pass a

congressional budget resolution. Congressional spending priorities would be enforced

through committee allocations, reconciliation and points of order when spending and

revenue legislation is considered later in the year.

In order to streamline the process, I would support a Joint House-Senate Budget

Committee with representatives from the Leadership and major Committees

constituting the membership. The Joint Committee would consider and report a budget

resolution. I would also support a two-year budget cycle for my two-step process: the

aggregate budget and the budget resolution establishing the spending priorities.

I would like to see the budget resolution considered through an open process as

was the case in the late 1970s.

I would like to see a more open process in the consideration of the various

individual spending measures so that Members can reprioritize or cut spending.

Ideally, I would like to have separate votes on attempts to waive the Budget Act.

As an appropriator, I have seen the ability of Members to impact spending in

appropriations bills severely limited and I would like to make two specific

recommendations in that regard.

First, amendments providing limitations on .appropriations bills should be

permitted if they have been introduced in bill form with at least 50 co-sponsors.

Limitations restrict the way in which funds are spent, and are an effective way to

influence policy when no other alternatives are available, particularly when the

authorizing committees are failing to act.

Presently, the rules, for all practicable purposes, prevent such

amendments from being offered because the motion to rise and report effectively

prevents anyone from offering any limitations on appropriations.

The proposed change would restore the right to offer limitation amendments if

proponents can demonstrate significant support. That will allow the process to be

opened and at the same time foreclose frivolous, time-delaying amendments.

Second, amendments should be permitted if they increase spending and are

offset with comparable reductions within the same appropriations bill.
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It is currently impossible for a Member to reprioritize spending in an

appropriations bill if that Member would like to add spending to a program at the

beginning of the bill and offset that increase by a reduction in a program that appears

later in the bill.

This is because the bill is usually read line-by-line for amendment and if

spending is added to a program at the beginning of the bill without an offset, it would

cause the subcommittee allocation to be exceeded, subjecting that portion of the

amendment to a point of order.

For example, in last year's VA-HUD appropriations bill, I may have proposed an

amendment to add, let's say, $200 million to Veterans Medical Care which appears on

page 7 and offset this additional spending by reducing Space Station funding by the

same amount, which is partially funded in the NASA Research and Development

account on page 75 of the bill.

Since the offset does not appear until page 75 of the bill, I would have not have

been allowed to offer such an amendment unless I received unanimous consent to offer

it or received permission in a rule. This is because of how we consider appropriations

bills, along with the subcommittee allocations that constrain spending.

The final proposal that I would like to speak in favor of today is the concept of a

line-item veto for both appropriations and tax bills. I have introduced legislation, H.R.

493, which would give the President authority to rescind discretionary budget authority

in appropriations bills or veto any targeted tax provision in revenue bills. Congress

would have a twenty-day review period during which a disapproval bill could be

enacted.

The President should have the tool to get at special interest provisions in both

appropriations and tax bills. This is not a panacea in the effort to reduce our federal

deficit, but it is an effective tool that could discourage unnecessary spending or special

tax provisions that also cost money.

I would like to make a part of the record, testimony that I presented before the

Legislation and National Security Subcommittee of the Government Operations

Committee on March 10.

Again, I thank you for this opportunity to testify on the Congressional budget

process. I urge the Committee to step back and take a broad view of the process

because I feel the key to making all the parts of this process work effectively is to return

to the philosophy that our forefathers maintained until recently
— that it is wrong to

borrow from future generations to spend now.

Furthermore, there should be a degree of fairness in the everyday workings of

this great institution so that any Member can freely pursue efforts to amend the budget

resolution and the various spending and revenue bills considered each year.
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Mr. Chairman, I would like to commend you for holding these

hearings to examine the concepts of a line-item veto, enhanced rescission

authority and expedited rescission authority.

I appear before you as a strong proponent of providing the President

with real and effective enhanced rescission authority. I also appear today to

add a new dimension to this debate by proposing that the President be given
not only the power to strike out individual items of appropriation in

appropriations bills, but be allowed to strike out special tax benefit provisions
in tax bills. I have introduced such n measure, II.R. 493, the Enhanced

Rescission/Receipts Act of 1993.

I believe that targeted tax benefits should be added to the mix after a

careful review of H.R. 11, the Revenue Act of 1992. This bill, which was the

vehicle to enact the enterprise zone proposal, in the aftermath of the Los

Angeles riots, grew and grew as it moved through the Congress. In the end,

the bill contained over fifty special tax provisions totalling $2.5 billion over

five years and outpacing the cost of the enterprise zone provisions.

Mr. Chairman, I ask unanimous consent that the list of these special
tax provisions be made a part of the record.

Although President Bush vetoed II.R. 11 last year, I can foresee

President Clinton faced with a take-it-or-leave-it situation later this year
when a tax bill or the reconciliation bill is presented to him. I can guarantee
that many of these provisions will again be in that legislation as sweeteners to

help pass the more difficult provisions. The President should have a tool to

avoid being held hostage to all the special interest provisions that are tacked

onto legislation, including those in revenue bills.

Under my proposal, MR. 493, the President may rescind all or part of

any discretionary budget authority within any appropriations measure or

veto any targeted tax benefit within any revenue bill. The President must

notify Congress of the individual rescissions or vetoes by special message not

later than twenty days after enactment of appropriations or tax measures. The

budget authority and targeted tax provisions are considered cancelled unless

Congress, by majority vole in each I louse, enacts a bill or joint resolution that

disapproves the rescission or veto. The Congressional review period extends
for twenty days. Upon congressional passage of a disapproval bill or joint

resolution, the President may either sign it or veto it. A veto would have to

be overridden by a two-thirds vote in both I louses.

Many will argue that giving the President this type of enhanced
rescission authority will tip the balance of power in favor of the Executive

Branch and will dilute Congress' power of the purse. I will argue that the

veto power of the Executive Branch has been diluted over the years by the
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number of omnibus bills that Congress sends to the President, putting him in

a take-it-or-leave-it position. Enhanced rescission power will equalize the

balance again to some degree. It will also force action by Congress to overturn

any special message where Congress clearly intends to exercise its prerogative
in setting spending priorities.

The bottom line is that this procedure requires a two-thirds majority of

both Houses to override the President's item veto. Only then would the

money have to be spent, which the President sought to rescind or veto.

During the Presidential campaign, President Clinton stated that he
would support enhanced rescission authority that would require expeditious

Congressional action on Presidential rescissions, similar to H.R. 2164 passed
by the House last year. I would not call the procedures in H.R. 2164
"enhanced rescission" authority, but, rather, I would call them merely
"expedited" rescission authority.

Under current law, we have a process where rescission messages can be

reviewed by Congress. But, Congress has to vote by simple majority to

implement such a rescission proposal within a forty-five day period or else

the money must be released on the forty-sixth day. The problem is that a

simple majority of either House can reject any rescission approval bill

presented by the President.

The "expedited" rescission proposal that we hear the Democratic

Leadership intends to bring to the House Floor again within the next month
does little more than speed up the existing process. It also apparently limits

rescissions to unauthorized programs and 25% of authorized programs.
Again, all it takes is a simple majority of each House to block any of these

limited rescissions proposed by the President.

In general terms, we all agree that enhanced rescission authority is not
the be-all and end-all in terms of bringing the federal budget into balance.

The Congressional Budget Office estimates that discretionary spending,

spending controlled on an annual basis through appropriations, has fallen to

36% of total federal spending. As I mentioned earlier, I propose to enlarge the

area subject to enhanced rescission authority by including potential targeted
tax expenditures that often run into billions of dollars.

If the President is given effective enhanced rescission authority, it can
be a useful tool to focus the legislative branch on spending decisions that are

necessary and that are in the national interest, rather than just serving very
narrow individual interests. It will bring greater accountability to the process
of deciding where the limited federal dollars can best be spent.

At least forty-two States have granted their governors some type of

line-item veto authority. The President should also be granted such

authority.

I hope that he will insist on enhanced rescission authority that has
some teeth and that will actually work. I hope that he does not settle for

some window dressing that appears to provide him with additional authority
but which in practice changes nothing and allows Congress to override his

wishes by a simple majority vote in one House.
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SPECIAL INTEREST PROVISIONS IN E.R. 11

(Sponsoring Member (a) indicated vhere known)

I. TAX REDUCTIONS

Sec. 2121. Exclusion from gross income for income from
discharge of qualified real property business indebtedness .

The bill provides an election to individual taxpayers to
exclude from gross income certain income from discharge of
qualified real property business indebtedness. The amount
excluded cannot exceed the basis of certain depreciable real
property of the taxpayer and is treated as a reduction in
the basis of that property.

Sec. 4128. Treatment of certain reimbursed expenses of
rural mail carriers . The bill provides a tax exemption
for rural letter carriers for travel reimbursements in
an amount equal to their expenses.

Sec. 4243. Special rules for plans covering pilots . On
behalf of Federal Express, the bill extends the rule
that currently permits separate treatment for union
pilots under the qualified plan rules to also apply to
nonunion pilots. A plan would be considered to have
nondiscriminatory coverage even though all or
substantially all the employees covered are highly
compensated.

Sec. 4613. Treatment of certain amounts received bv
operators of licensed cotton warehouses . The bill allows
operators of licensed cotton warehouses who are on the
accrual method of accounting to elect to defer the
recognition of certain income arising from fees that they
are legally unable to collect so long as they pay an .

interest charge with respect to the deferral.

Sec. 4639. Tax-exempt financing for United Nations office
buildings.

Sec. 4651. Discharge of indebtedness income from prepayment
of REA loans . In determining whether an exempt electric
cooperative earns 85 percent of its income from members, the
bill would ignore cancellation of indebtedness income from
the prepayment of REA loans under the 1990 farm act.
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Sec. 4652. Treatment of certain amounts received bv a
cooperative telephone company . For all open years, the bill
would treat 50 percent of income received from a nonaeaber
telephone company for the performance of communication
services which involve coop members as "good" member income
for purposes of the 85 percent test. In addition, for all
open years, the bill would ignore amounts received by a
telephone coop for billing and collection services performed
for another telephone company for purposes of the 85 percent
test.

Sec. 4653. Tax treatment of cooperative housing
corporations . The bill clarifies that Code section 277
(costs incurred by a "membership organization" attributable
to furnishing services, insurance, goods and other items of
value to its members are deductible in any taxable year only
to the extent of any income the organization has derived
from its members or transactions with its members) does not
apply to a "cooperative housing corporation." The provision
further provides that patronage losses of a housing coop
cannot offset earnings that are not patronage earnings.

Sec. 4663. Authorization for Bureau of Land Management use
of reforestation trust fund . The bill increases from 530
million to $45 million the maximum amount that may be
transferred to the Reforestation Trust Fund for any fiscal
year.

Sec. 4665. Modification of credit for producing fuel from a
nonconventional source . The bill provides that with respect
to determinations required under the Code of whether gas is
produced from geopressured brine, Devonian shale, coal
seams, or from a tight formation, in the event that such a
determination is not made by the Federal Energy Regulatory
Commission in accordance with section 503 of the Natural Gas
Policy Act of 1978 due to the expiration of that statute,
Treasury is required to make such determinations. For
purposes of these determinations, Treasury must follow the
guidelines set forth in the Natural Gas Policy Act of 1978
prior to its repeal.

Sec. 4707. Certain cash rentals of farmland not to cause
recapture of special estate tax valuation . The bill provides
that the cash lease of specially valued real property by a
qualified heir to a "member of the family" (who continues to
operate the farm or closely held business) does not causa
the qualified use of such property to cease for purposes of
imposing the additional estate tax under section 2032A(c) .

The provision is effective for cash rentals after December
31, 1976.

Sec. 4832. Small manufacturers exempt from firearms excise
tax. The bill exempts small manufacturers and importers
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from the 11 percent excise tax on firearms and ammunition
and the 10 percent excise tax on pistols and revolvers, if
the manufacturer or importer manufactures or imports fever
than 50 such articles per year.

Sec. 4834. Exemption for transportation on certain ferries .

The bill exempts transportation on certain ferries from the
excise tax on transportation of passengers by water.

Sec. 4835. Application of certain taxes to certain business
aircraft- The bill clarifies the application of the aviation
excise taxes to business aircraft used by corporate
affiliated groups to require the IRS to apply the applicable
taxes on a flight-by-flight basis for an affiliated group as
for a stand alone corporation.

Sec. 6102 (m). Application of Harbor Maintenance Tax to
Alaska and Hawaii Ship Passengers . The bill exempts from the
harbor tax passenger fares where transported on U.S. flag
vessels operating solely within the State waters of Alaska
or Hawaii and adjacent international waters.

Sec. 7101. Income exclusion for education bonds expanded .

The bill expands the definition of "qualified higher
education expenses" under section 135 (which excludes
interest on certain U.S. Series EE bonds from gross income)
to include tuition and required fees paid by a taxpayer for
the enrollment or attendance of any individual (not simply
dependents) at an eligible educational institution. The
amendment also repeals the AGI phaseout limitation under
section 135.

Sec. 7104. Treatment of cancellation of certain student
loans . The bill expands the section 108(f) exclusion for the
cancellation of certain student loan indebtedness so that an
individual's gross income does not include discharge-of-
indebtedness income from the cancellation of a loan made by
an educational organization to assist the individual in
attending the institution, provided the loan was made
pursuant to a program of the institution designed to
encourage its students to serve in occupations or areas with
unmet needs.

Sec. 7108. Penalty free withdrawals from annuities for
higher education expenses . The bill would eliminate the 10
percent penalty for certain early withdrawals from
annuities.

Sec. 7303. Exclusion from unrelated business taxable income
for certain sponsorship payments . The bill would exclude
certain sponsorship payments from the unrelated business
income of tax-exempt organizations and provide special
relief for the Atlanta Olympic Committee from the UBIT.
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Sec. 7306. Ph»nat« in application of wagering taxes to
charitable organizations. The bill provides that any
organization exeapt from tax under sections 501 or 521 and

any person engaged in receiving wagers only on behalf of
such organization are exempt from the occupational excise
tax if the only wagers accepted are authorized under State
law.

Sec. 7307. conducting of certain games of chance not treated
as unrelated trade or business. The bill provides that the
conducting of certain games of chance will not be treated as
UBTI.

Sec. 7308. Treatment of certain nonprofit organizations
providing health benefits. The bill extends the special tax
treatment of Blue Cross, Blue Shield and similar

organizations to other taxpayers that do not fulfill the
requirements of section 833 of the Code. The bill gives
retroactive relief to a single taxpayer.

Sec. 7309. Treatment of Indian tribal governments under
section 403 fb) . The provision allows tax-deferred annuities
for employees of Indian tribal governments. The provision
would be effective retroactively for all plans established
prior to enactment that were intended to qualify as a
section 403(b) annuity.

Sec. 7310. Certain costs of private foundation in removing
hazardous substances treated as qualifying distribution. The
bill provides that certain costs of a private foundation in

removing hazardous substances with regard to a facility
transferred to the foundation by bequest before December 11.

1980, and which ceased to be operated by the foundation
prior to December 12, 1980, will be treated as qualifying
distributions. Apparent rifle shot.

Sec. 7311. Unrelated business income for treatment of
mailing lists . The bill excludes from the OBIT income from

exchanges or rentals (subject to a 10 percent of annual

gross income limit) by a tax-exempt charity, war veterans

group, or social welfare organization of mailing lists to

any taxable or tax-exempt entity.

Sec. 7401. Treatment of certain reimbursed flight training
expenses . For all taxable years before 1980, the
deductibility of flight-training expenses is to be
determined without regard to whether such expenses were
reimbursed through veterans educational assistance
allowances. In addition, the provision allows a taxpayer to
file a claim for a refund or credit of taxes that were
overpaid as a result of the provision if the claim is filed

prior to the close of the 1-year period beginning on the
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date the provision is enacted.

Sec. 7402. Treatment of certain securities transferred to
ESOP from terminated pension olan . The bill grandfathers a
section 404 (k) dividend deduction for 9.9 million shares
purchased on September 22, 1989, by the Merill Lynch ESOP so
that the limitations on such deductions adopted as part of
the OBRA '89 will not apply to the deduction.

Sec. 7403. Treatment of certain disability benefits received
by former police officers or firefighters . The bill provides
an exclusion for certain disability benefits received by
former police officers or firefighters resulting from heart
disease and hypertension.

Sec. 7404. Frinoe Benefits of airline affiliate employees .

Under present law, the gross income of an employee of an
airline or a qualified affiliate of an airline does not
include the value of air transportation provided as a no-
additional-cost service under section 132. The definition
of a qualified affiliate is amended by this provision to
include any entity that is at least 80 percent owned by one
or more companies that operate an airline. This is for
Northwest Airlines

Sec. 7501. Increase in size of loans permitted under certain
bond-f inanced programs . The provision conforms the maximum
allowable loan amount under Federal tax rules (currently
$20,000 per participant) to the Texas-law maximum of
$40,000.

Sec. 7502. Treatment of certain port authority bonds .

Notwithstanding rules subjecting interest on otherwise tax-
exempt bonds to tax where simultaneous issuances occur, the
St. Paul Port Authority, created in 1932, would be allowed
to simultaneously reduce the interest rate on 876 bond
issues (technically a refunding) without loss of tax-
exemption.

Sec. 7503. Modification of limitation on capital
expenditures for small issue bonds . The provision would
except certain expenditures from the $10 million small issue
bond limitations.

Sec. 7504. Application of 1988 technical correction . Rifle
shot for project in South Carolina financed with tax-exempt
bonds . The result of the amendment is to restore
deductions to banks for interest expenses payable to
depositors attributable to investments in tax-exempt bonds
related to the project. The deductions are currently denied
under the 196 8 amendments.

Sec. 7601. Provisions related to S corporations . The
provision increases the shareholder limit for S corporations
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from 35 to 50.

Sec. 7602. Treatment of livestock sold on account of
weather-related conditions. The proposal would extend
certain deferral of income and nonrecognition of income Code
provisions which apply to drought to forced sales of
livestock due to other weather-related disasters.

Sec. 7603. Depreciation period for tuxedos held for r»nta \ -

The bill would create a special depreciation class for
tuxedos with a 2 year class life and recovery period.

Sec. 7605. Treatment of partnership investment expenses
under minimum tax . The bill would permit individuals an AHT
deduction for expenses paid or incurred for section 212
expenses with certain limitations.

Sec. 7606. Clarification of certain buildings under
rehabil itation credit . The bill permits a building that was
relocated prior to the publication of certain proposed
Treasury Regulations to be eligible for the credit.

Sec. 7607. Minimum tax treatment of certain property and
casualty insurance companies . The bill provides that a small
property and casualty insurance company that determines its
regular taxable income without regard to underwriting income
and expense may determine AMTI the same way. The
Administration opposes this provision because there is no
justification for exempting underwriting income from the
AMT.

Sec. 7608. Tax treatment of associations resulting from
mergers of certain farm credit associations . The bill
provides that the income of any entity that results from the
merger of a Federal land bank association and a production
credit association should be subject to a Federal • income tax
except to the extent that the income is properly allocable
to loans that are authorized to be made by Federal land bank
associations and have an initial term of 10 years. The
Administration opposes this provision because it creates
significant Administrative difficulties and there is no
justification for providing a tax exemption when the
exemption was knowingly foregone in connection with the
merger.

Sec. 7609. Restoration of prior law treatment of corporate
reorganizations through exchange of debt instruments. The
bill restores cancellation of indebtedness (COD) rules
similar to the pre-1990 Act rules with respect to debt-for-
debt exchanges in a reorganization but attempts to do so
without restoring the uncertainties that arose under prior
law. The Administration opposes the provision because it is
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not a comprehensive solution to COD income and it allows
taxpayers inappropriate flexibility in the timing of income
recognition.

Sec. 7610. Treatment of deposits under certain perpetual
insurance policies . Present law provisions which treat
certain arrangements as below-market loans are not to applyto any deposit made by a policyholder under a qualified
perpetual policy.

Sec. 7611. Tax treatment of certain di stributions made byAlaska native corporations . The bill permits Alaska Native
Corporations to distribute specified amounts to native
shareholders without dividend consequences, even though such
corporations may have current or accumulated earnings and
profits such that these amounts would otherwise be taxed to
shareholders as dividends.

Sec. 7612. Deduction for small property and casualty
insurance companies . The bill would treat small property and
casualty insurance companies similarly to small life
insurance companies.

Sec. 7613. Treatment of not-for-profit residual market
insurance companies . The bill provides relief from the AMT
limitation on the use of NOLs to not-for-profit, residual-
market insurance associations.

Sec. 7614. Gains and losses from certain dispositions by
farmers cooperatives . The bill permits a farmers'
cooperative to elect to treat the gains and losses from
assets used to facilitate the cooperative's conduct of
business done with, or for, its patrons as patronage-sourced
income.

Sec. 7617. Standing of certain taxpayers with regard to sale
of net operating losses . The bill permits an election that
would provide Native Corporations standing to litigate the
validity of their NOLs under certain circumstances.

Sec. 7618. Research credit base amount for start-up
companies . The bill amends the definition of start-up
companies for purposes of the R&D credit.

Sec. 7619. Application of passive loss limitations to timber
activities . The bill provides that two regulatory
limitations applicable in determining whether an individual
meets the facts and circumstances test for material
participation in an activity do not apply to certain closely
held timber activities.

Sec. 7701. Tax-free sales of trucks assembled bv educational
organizations . The bill exempts from the truck excise tax
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all trucks or truck trailers assembled by students and sold
as a part of a program included in the regular curriculum of
a nonprofit education organization, if the sales proceeds
are used solely to defray the costs of the program.

Sec. 7702. Clarification of exemption from firearms tax for
reloading of shells and cartridges supplied by customer .

The bill exempts reloaded shells and cartridges from the
firearms excise tax. The exemption applies only when the
purchaser turns in previously used cartridges or shells of
the same type.

Sec. 7703. Explosives handling equipment exempt from heavy
truck tax . The bill provides an exception from the 12-
percent retail excise tax for truck equipment used to mix
explosive chemicals.

Sec. 7704. Termination of certain special estate tax
valuation recapture provisions . The bill provides that the
special estate tax valuation recapture provisions will cease
to apply after 1992 in the case of property acquired from
decedents dying before January 1, 1982.

Sec. 7705. Clarification of employment tax status of certain
fishermen . The bill provides that service as a crew member
on a fishing vessel will be treated as meeting the exclusion
from the definition of employment for employment tax
purposes.

Sec. 7706. Service performed by full-time students for
seasonal children's camos exempt from social security taxes .

The Administration opposes this provision because there is
no justification for distinguishing these employees from
other part-time or temporary employees.

Sees. 7801-4. Tax treatment of certain cargo containers . The
bill clarifies the treatment of intermodal cargo containers
placed in service in years prior to issuances of Rev. Rul.
90-9 and Rev. Proc. 90-10. Both the ruling and revenue
procedure restrict application of accelerated depreciation
to intermodal cargo containers.

Sees. 7931-35. Annuity benefits for certain ex-spouses of
CIA employees . The bill provides for the payment of
retirement and survivor annuities to certain exspouses of

employees of the CIA.

Sees. 7941-2) . Repeal of Coast Guard recreational boat user

II. STUDIES
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S^ilJi;.StUdy °f e"ectiwnes» <* tax enterprise zone

Sec. 5911. Pilot program for appeal of enforcement actions.
Sec. 5912. study on taxpayers with special needs.

Sec. 5913. Reports on taxpayer-rights education program.

^enu^serJicr^lo^es?
°" Biscondu<* * Vernal

Sec. 5915. study of notices of deficiency.
Sec. 5916. Notice and form accuracy study.

sSdy?
91? * Internal Avenue Service employees' suggestions

Sec. 7911. study of semi-conductor manufacturing equipment.
Sec. 7912. Municipal bond fund study.

Sec. 7913. Study of travel expenses of loggers.
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TESTIMONY OF
THE HONORABLE HENRY BELLMON

FORMER RANKING MEMBER, SENATE BUDGET COMMITTEE
AND FORMER GOVERNOR, STATE OF OKLAHOMA

Mr. Chairman. My last speech on the Senate floor in 1980, was on the

subjects of Congressional organization and budget process reform.

Let me say at the outset, however, that no plan better to organize the

Congress, no budget process, can substitute for political will. No matter how

Congress organizes, no matter how effective the budget process, elected politicians

must make tough political choices. There is no other cure for our economic

problems. If I could do one thing to help Congress today, I would re-create Senator

Muskie as Chairman of the Senate Budget Committee. The contribution he made, the

courage and leadership he demonstrated in the early days of the budget process cannot

be over-states.

I am flattered to be invited back to testify before you today and I find my

thoughts not much changed since 1980. I would like to submit a copy my 1980

speech for the record. I am less sanguine than I was a decade ago about Congress

ability to enforce spending limits through points of order. Instead, I have come to the

view that you need statutory spending limits backed up by automatic across spending

cuts which have come to be known as sequestration. I shall focus on four points

today. Others have testified in support of similar concepts
- for instance, the
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Kassebaum/Inouye bill.

Summary of Recommendations

Congressional Organization

1. The United States should move to a biennial budget and appropriations

process. In odd numbered years, the President should propose and Congress

should act on the budget, spending and tax legislation. In even numbered

years, Congress should consider substantive legislative proposals, conduct

meaningful oversight, monitor and evaluate programs, authorize and

reauthorize spending.

Our recommendations may require that Congress give the President more

flexibility to execute and implement policy
-- fewer set-asides and

earmarks, and/or broader re-programming authority.

2. In the new system, the House and Senate should combine Authorizing

Committees and Appropriations Subcommittees. Every Member should

serve on a Tax Writing Committees or one of the combined Authorization/

Appropriations Committees.

3. In order to give the process more clout and provide stronger leadership, the

Budget Committees should be reconstituted as separate House and Senate

Committees on National priorities. They should be Leadership Committees
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comprised of the Chairmen and Ranking Members of the Tax Writing and

Combined Authorizing/Appropriations Committees. The new Committees

should be given jurisdiction over legislation affecting the Budget Act and

Process. If the House and Senate do not adopt a conference agreement on

the budget by a date certain, the appropriations process should move forward

based on the limits contained in the President's Budget.

4. Congress and the President should agree on binding spending limits,

including limits on entitlement spending. Those limits should be written into

law. If spending exceeds the limits, automatic cuts (like sequestration under

the 1990 budget agreement) should eliminate the overage.

Additional Comments on Budget Process Reform

1. In addition, I support line-item veto, but I understand that may require

constitutional change. As an interim measure, a system of enhanced

rescissions needed as an effective statutory alternative to line-item veto. The

President should not be forced to choose between vetoing massive

appropriations bills, providing funding for whole Departments and agencies

(in the case of continuing resolutions, funding for virtually the entire federal

government) or signing into law appropriations projects he considers to be
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wasteful. Congress must allow the President more latitude to manage the

day-to-day business of government efficiently and effectively.

2. Any effective budget process must be universal, open and understandable,

and enforceable. All program costs should be on-budget. Congress and the

Administration must set firm, multi-year spending limits and live within the

limits that they set. Recent experience suggests that the problem does not lie

chiefly in the budgets we adopt. The problem lies in enforcement of the

budget once it is adopted. Over the last decade, actual deficits have

averaged $42 billion per year more than the deficits contained in the budget

resolutions Congress adopted. In one year (1989) actual spending was

almost $85 billion higher than the level in the budget resolution.

3. Only interest should be exempt from expenditure limits and sequestration.

Expenditure limits should be adjusted annually (up or down) for changes in

unemployment, inflation and case loads. So-called "technical adjustments"

should be limited to timing shifts, like the delay in spending for the savings

and loan bail out. Technical adjustments should not be a guise to make up

for mistakes in our estimates of the likely cost of spending and tax policies.

4. Congress should stop trying to fine-tune fiscal policy for every blip in the

business cycle. Leave economic stabilization to the monetary policy
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process. Fiscal policy changes are too cumbersome, too political, too tardy

and too tiny to achieve meaningful, timely effects.

5. I would support the creation of a Fiscal Policy Advisory Board, composed of

leading economists or budget experts, chosen by the President and

Congressional Leaders, to comment on the assumptions and estimates

underlying budgetary proposals. Members of this board should not be

government employees. They should not generate forecasts nor make

budget estimates. Their task should be to provide non-political, professional

comment on the forecasts and estimates made by official government

agencies and the manner they are presented. The board also might

comment on the quality of the data based on which government makes major

economic decisions.

6. The expenditure side of the budget should include a small reserve, under the

control of the President, against contingent liabilities and emergencies. Even

the Governor of Oklahoma has access to such a fund.

Housekeeping Details

7. There should be a statutory requirement that every budgetary proposal

provide certain information in a consistent format, e.g., budget authority,

outlays, revenues, deficits and debt, aggregates and committee allocations,



68

functional totals or budget categories (whatever is the basis for scorekeeping

and enforcement).

8. There is a need to build an informed constituency for spending restraint.

For example, very time IRS mails out tax reforms, they might include a

"box score" report to taxpayers something like the table below:

Spending Caps recommended by the President

Caps adopted by the Congress

Any Revisions to the Caps during the Preceding Year (amount/date/reason)

Actual Spending compared to the Caps

Revenues

Deficit

Increase in National Debt in Preceding Year (total and per capita)

Since I left the Senate, I have served with Bob Giaimo (former Chairman of

the House Budget Committee) as Co-chairman of the Committee for A Responsible

Federal Budget. I have with me some materials describing what The Committee calls

the "Truth in Budgeting" proposal. We developed these proposals during the debate

on the 1990 budget agreement, The materials I have with me today compare that
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proposal with the Budget Enforcement Act (which is part of the 1990 budget

agreement).

These materials spell out in more detail the Committee's recommendations

for budget process changes which we believe need to be enacted as part of deficit

reduction legislation this year. (Submit for record.)

Conclusions

In conclusion, let me again stress four points with regard to Congressional

organization and budget process reform:

•
Congress should adopt a biennial budget and appropriations process.

• Congress should combine the Authorizing Committees and Appropriations

subcommittees. Every Member should serve on a Tax Committee or on one

of the combined Authorizing and Appropriating Committees.

• The Budget Committees should be reconstituted as House and Senate

Committees on National Priorities. The Chairmen and Ranking

Appropriating Committees should be members of the Committees on

National Priorities.

•
Congress and the President should set binding spending limits,

including limits on entitlements. Those limits should be written into law and

backed up by automatic cuts similar to sequestration under the 1990 budget
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The federal budget process is decentralized with a vengeance. Too many

Executive branch agencies, too many Congressional Committees and subcommittees,

go through too many steps each year, until it seems that no decision on spending and

tax policy ever is final. The process is replete with duplication, overlap and

redundancy. Complexity compounded by confusion undermines accountability. .We

speak of so-called "uncontrollable spending" as if those federal outlays resulted from

natural laws rather than statutes enacted right here on Capitol Hill.

The thrust of my recommendations is two-fold: make government and the

budget process more accountable and understandable; and create real political

embarrassment when Congress and the President fail to live up to the promises you

make in the budget process every year.

We need to be concerned about government accountability. The polling

booth is the market clearing house of representative government. When government

becomes so complex that concerned voters, willing to spend a reasonable amount of

time, cannot understand what is going on in Washington, the system is in danger of

breaking down.

But the budget is not the problem. The problem is that Congress and the

Administration often fail to live within the budgets you adopt. How to live within that

goal?
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I am convinced that real, binding spending limits, covering all federal

spending including entitlements, hold the key to serious budgetary restraint. You can

balance the budget by cutting spending and/or raising revenues, but you never will

reduce the dficit unless you agree that there is an amount of money more than which

Congress and the president will not spend, and stay within those limits.
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from and unprotected by the law. subject
to abuse, and themselves openly in defiance

of the law, Is a prescription for social strife

of great magnitude.
An overwhelming majority of Americans—

91 percent—of every political, religious, eth-

nic and economic background, want an end
to Illegal Immigration (Roper Poll. 1978). A
growing number of organizations with na-

tional constituencies—the National Parks
and Conservation Association, the Sierra

Club, the Federation for American Immigra-
tion Reform, Americans for the Rights of

Citizens, the VJ\W.. the American Legion.
The Urban League. The National Governor's
Association, and The Environmental Fund—
have begun the difficult but necessary task
of moving the U.S. toward prudent popu-
lation policies. Congressmen Paul Simon.
Clarence Long and Tony Coelho and Sena-
tors Walter Huddleston and Dennis DeCon-
clnl are leading a reluctant Congress in the
same direction.

A five-part proposal has become the basis

of discussions concerning ways to control Il-

legal Immigration. First. It should be made
unlawful to hire those not entitled to work
in this country. Second, a work-permit sys-
tem, utilizing an upgraded social security
card, should be Implemented to verify each

person's right to employment. Third, devel-

opment policies In the countries with high
unemployment should be created with spe-
cial emphasis on both the creation of the
small family norm and broadly owned rural

enterprises and agricultural development.
Fourth, the Immigration and Naturalization
Service must be provided with the leadership
and funds necessary to carry out Us lawful
and essential duties. And. finally, a carefully
structured program of temporary agricultural

guest-workers, limited In numbers and dura-

tion, might be established.

Making it unlawful to hire those Illegally

here, or otherwise not entitled to work, would
at long last remove the Inconsistency In our

immigration law which has nurtured the

growth in unlawful immigration. (It is pres-

ently Illegal for these people to work, but

entirely legal to hire them) .

Each Job applicant must be treated equally,
with documentation required to verify the

right to employment. The experience of sev-

eral European democracies demonstrates that

such a work-permit system works quite well,

preventing discrimination as well as provid-
ing easy legal recourse for those discrimi-

nated against.
Though It Is now necessary to prove citi-

zenship In order to obtain a social security
card, legislation Is needed to further tighten
the process. Legislation Is also needed to In-

sure that the birth certificates of deceased

persons are appropriately marked so as to

combat their fraudulent use.

A work-permit policy need only apply to

the new workers In our work force—those

changing Jobs and those entering the work
force for the first time—thus gradually

bringing all employes Into the system over

time, avoiding the cost and difficulty of a
sudden switch In policy.
The most creative and Important part of

this proposal is that it avoids the potential
for discrimination that has existed In previ-
ous proposals which make only the employ-
ment of Illegal aliens a crime. If a record of

employee social security account numbers Is

maintained, immigration officials need only
check this and thus not harass legitimate

employees. With such protection of the U.S.

Job market, employment opportunities In the
United States for people Illegally here would
largely disappear.

Finally, this policy recognizes that the core
of illegal immigration is rooted In the pop-
ulation explosion In the rest of the world.
No doubt the United States should assist

other countries, upon Invitation. In estab-

lishing widespread economic Incentive and

disincentive programs which make small
families attractive. Such policies have been
successfully undertaken by South Korea, Sri

Lanka, and Singapore.
If other governments see no need to check

the population growth looming so large on
their national horizons, the United States
should not compound this folly and Ignore
Its own population growth. As long as na-
tional leaders, attached as they are to posi-
tions of privilege and power, can avoid fac-

ing the population problem, little will be ac-

complished In the way of social and economic
reform, whether in Asia. Latin America or

Africa. Our continued tolerance of such mas-
sive Illegal Immigration relieves many of
these nations from facing their economic
problems honestly, and thus is but another
of the "hidden props" with which we help
keep many despots In power.
Our Commissioner of Immigration has

stated {Christian Science Monitor, March 14.

1979):
"As a sovereign nation, we have to control

our own territory and our future. . . . We are
not exercising our true sovereignty by allow-

ing a blatant disregard of the laws governing
admission into the United States. The need
to do so Is so basic and simple that it tran-
scends economics and other parochial con-
siderations of special Interest groups."
We must do these things for a number of

reasons—to preserve and protect a livable

environment, to maintain a decent standard
of living for our children, and mo6t of all,

to insure that this democracy, "the last, best

hope of mankind" will flourish. Only as such
a nation, can our promise as a refuge from
persecution, for even one person, continue
to be fulfilled.

PRIVILEGES OP THE FLOOR—
H.R. 8105

Mr. BELLMON. Mr. President, I ask
unanimous consent that Don Ferrell and
Blythe Thomas of my staff be allowed on
the floor of the U.S. Senate during the
consideration of H.R. 8105, Defense ap-
propriations conference.
The PRESIDING OFFICER. Without

objection, it is so ordered.

NEEDED CHANGES IN THE CON-
GRESSIONAL BUDGET ACT

Mr. BELLMON. Mr. President, I want
to share with the Senate some thoughts
on needed improvements in the Con-
gressional Budget Act of 1974.

I first want- to thank my good friend

and colleague. Senator Percy, for push-
ing me to pull together these thoughts.
Senator Percy was one of the original
architects of the Budget Act, and
through his service on the Governmental
Affairs Committee has continued to keep
a close eye on the evolution of the budget
process. Here on the Senate floor. Sen-
ator Percy has been one of the strong-
est supporters of the budget process as
the Senate has dealt with many tough
issues that the process has forced to

the forefront.
I also want to thank the Senators and

former Senators with whom I have
served on the Budget Committee over the

past 6 years. I am proud that we have
been able to develop the budget process
to the point where it is highly unlikely

Congress will ever scrap the process and
return to the old. pre- 1975 fragmented
ways of dealing with economic and fiscal

policy.

I owe special thanks to those who have
chaired the committee—Senators
Muskie and Hollings. They have been
bipartisan in their approach and they
have been wise in dealing with the thou-
sands of individual decisions that have
been faced by the Budget Committee
since its inception.

The fact that my good friend Senator
Domenici will chair the Budget Commit-
tee beginning in January gives me as-
surance that the process will continue
to develop as a key part of congressional
decisionmaking. Senator Domenici
brings to the chairmanship of the com-
mittee an exceptionally keen mind and
5 years of experience on the committee.
He probably does not need my advice on
ways to improve the Budget Act or the
budget process, but I nevertheless give
it to him. Senator Percy, Senator Hol-
lincs. and the rest of my colleagues for
such use as they may see fit.

While I feel the Budget Act has stood
the test of experience reasonably well, I

do believe that it is time Congress evalu-
ated that experience against today s
realities and improved the act wherever
needed.

The recently completed House-Senate
conference on the second budget resolu-
tion for fiscal year 1981 agreed that the
Budget Act should be thoroughly re-
viewed in the next Congress. The second
budget resolution contains the following
provision:
The Congress recognizes that (other than

for certain minor changes adopted at the
start of the Ninety-sixth Congress as re-
visions to the rules of the House) there have
been no changes to the Budget Act of 1974.
It is the sense of the Congress that after six

years of experience under the Budget Act.
the time is right for considering revisions
and modifications to the Budget Act so as to

Improve the congressional budget process
Accordingly, the Congress believes that a re-
view of the Budget Act and the congressional
budget process should be undertaken with-
out delay.

Senator Domenici, the incoming chair-
man of the Budget Committee, has In-
dicated that he plans to schedule hear-
ings by the Budget Committee within
the next few months on possible amend-
ments to the Budget Act. I am sure it

will be advantageous for the Budget and
Governmental Affairs Committees to

work together in seeking ways to improve
the budget process. Also, a task force of

the House Budget Committee, chaired by
Representative Mineta. held hearings
several months ago on possible Budget
Act revisions. I understand Mr. Mineta
plans to introduce a bill to revise the

Budget Act early in the next session.

The following are the key areas In

which I see the need for changes in the

Budget Act:
CREDIT BUDGETING

It is very important that congres-
sional budget resolutions begin to include
effective controls over the amount of

Federal loans and loan guarantees which
can be committed in each fiscal year.
The first and second budget resolutions
for fiscal year 1981 include some modest
steps in this regard. A task force estab-
lished by the Senate Budget Committee
has held hearings on this subject and
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will undoubtedly have some recommen-
dations for the full committee next year
Senator Percys bill (S. 2151) is the

most thoughtful credit budgeting pro-
posal that has been developed so far. My
own view, however. Is that there is need
to go further than his bill goes in sort-
ing out the whole credit picture. I be-
lieve, for example, that we should sepa-
rate conceptually the treatment of direct
loan activity from other types of budget
authority. I think we are mixing apples
and oranges now in a rather confusing
way. Expenditures which become bal-
ance sheet assets are surely not the same
as expenditures which remain liabilities
of the Federal Government.

I would change the present classifica-
tion of those direct, loan programs which
are on-budget—gross lending is scored as
budget authority and the excess of loans
over receipts is scored as outlays—and
integrate them with the loan and loan
guarantee programs which are now off-

budget. I believe all this credit activity
should be controlled through new budget
categories for loans and loan guarantees.
Both of these categories should be sub-
divided according to the budget functions
to which the various programs relate.
The enforcement mechanisms to accom-
pany these categories may need to be
somewhat different from those for the
rest of the budget.
On the other hand, I believe implicit

interest subsidies, default payments, and
administrative costs of loan programs
should be included in budget authoritv
and outlays. Also, the act should include
criteria for determining when loans are
default, since there are wide variations
on default determinations among Federal
programs.

Consideration also should be given to
precluding understatement of Federal
activity through devices such as the Fed-
eral Financing Bank moving on-budget
loans off-budget.
TREATMENT OF TRUST AND REVOLVING FTJNOS
We now treat payroll tax collections

for social security and unemployment
insurance as revenues and score them as
budget authority. Those treatments are
troublesome. For instance, when we re-
duce outlays in a trust fund program we
actually increase budget authority be-
cause the trust fund has more reserves
which earn more interest. Thus, our pres-
ent concepts mix "desirable" budget au-
thority—that is. increased receipts by
trust funds—with "undesirable" budget
authority which connotes spending in-
creases in most programs.

I propose that a new category called
trust fund receipts be established and
that the collection of these earmarked
taxes be treated much like other off-
setting receipts. This change would go a
long way toward putting budget author-
ity on a consistent conceptual basis.
There are also large revolving fundswhich probably should be treated in a

similar manner to what I am suggestingfor trust funds Current "setting" prior-
ities disguise the magnitude of the Fed-
eral activity and cause it to be largelyignored in Federal economic and fiscal
policymaking.
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OFF-BUDGET SPENDING

I suggest that budget concepts be al-
tered so that budget deficit and addi-
tions to the public debt are identical
each year. Ttvs would reduce confu-
sion—at least on the Hill. It would also
put the real deficit—or surplus—before
the public. The biggest and most cru-
cial step would be to bring all off-budget
outlays on-budget. I think there will be
general support now for doing this, even
though it will make the goal of a bal-
anced budget even harder to reach
There will also need to be changes in the
treatment of trust fund deficits ind
Treasury balances in order to make def-
icit/surplus figures and public debt
changes identical.

RECONCILIATION
Our experience of the past 2 years has

shown that reconciliation tied to the
second budget resolution, as the Budget
Act provides, simply comes too late in the
fiscal year. In addition to the practical
reality that Congress at least every other
year will be under pressure to wind up its

business and get out of town by Octo-
ber 1. there simply is little appetite that
late in the session for biting the bullet
on a set of tough budget decisions. In
addition, the beginning of the fiscal year
in October 1 makes the late September
timeframe specified in the act for recon-
ciliation-almost unworkable.
This year's experience with reconcili-

ation attached to the first budget resolu-
tion seems to me the way to go. Section
301(b)(2) of the act provides that the
first resolution may include "any other
provision which is appropriate to carry
out the purposes of this act." This is

probably a sufficient basis for establish-
ing the practice of including reconcilia-
tion provisions routinely in first resolu-
tions, but revising the Budget Act to au-
thorize specifically the inclusion of rec-
onciliation requirements in first budget
resolution would help to establish the
practice.

There is one other major lesson to be
learned from this year's "first ever" use
of the reconciliation procedure: Two
House committees succeeded in forcing
into the reconciliation bill a series of
program extensions and expansions
which increased spending. While this
year's reconciliation bill is still a major
achievement. I believe it is essential to
amend the Budget Act to preclude in-
clusion in future reconciliation bills of
provisions which do not produce net sav-
ings—estimated by CBO—over the first 5
years.

MULTIYEAR BUDGET
As you know, the Senate has been

moving steadily toward multiyear budg-
eting. The House has this year made
significant steps to come along. I be-
lieve we will shortly have a budget which
contains agreed upon totals for at least
3 years. There is at present, however, no
enforcement power behind the budget
targets for out years. It is not a simple
matter to build an enforcement proce-
dure for multiple years, since it is un-
likely that legislative or appropriation
actions taken in a given timeframe will
create enough spending in out years to

cause either the budget aggregates or
even the functional totals to be exceeded
My view is that we should change the

act so as to make the Budget Committee
serve as a gatekeeper on bills which take
effect in future years or which have their
major spending impact in the out years
For example, the act could be amended
to provide that any bill which creates—
or authorizes—new spending beginning
in future years, or which creates—or au-
thorizes—future year spending more
than a specified percentage—perhaps
10—over spending for the budget year
will require a waiver before being in
order. This would enable the Budget
Committees to use the out-year assump-
tions underlying the budget resolution
to challenge particularly blatant "bal-
looning" of spending after the budget
year. While the Budget Committee's op-
position to a waiver would be subject to
override on the Senate floor, this type of
provision would certainly have an in-
hibiting effect on the reporting of legis-
lation with substantial out-year spend-
ing effects.

EFFECTIVE DATES Or REVENGE CHANCES
The Budget Act clearly needs to be

tightened to reduce the opportunities
for circumventing the revenue floor by
shifting forward the effective dates of
tax reduction legislation. One device
that has been used is to make a tax
change effective very late in a fiscal year
so that it has minimal effect in the year
for which a budget resolution exists but
a much larger effect in future years
Another loophole is created by section
303(b) which permits consideration of
revenue legislation which first takes ef-
fect in a fiscal year more than 1 year be-
yond the fiscal year for which a budget
resolution exists.

Ironically, the multiyear enforcement
problem is actually easier to solve for
revenues than it is for spending All it
will take for revenues is an amendment
to the act placing the out-year revenue
numbers on the same legal basis as the
1-year numbers currently are. As I have
already discussed, the enforcement
problem on out-year spending is con-
siderably more complicated.

POINTS OF ORDER ACAINST BILLS EXCEEOING
CROSSWALK TOTALS

The present enforcement tools, even
on a 1-year basis, are very limited. No
point of order can be raised unless
spending under a bill would exceed the
aggregate totals in the budget. A point
of order certainly should lie against bills
which will cause spending to exceed com-
mittee allocations under second budget
resolutions. I personally believe the point
of order should also be available to help
enforce the targets of the first budget
resolution as well.
The first budget resolution for fiscal

year 1981 included a temporary provision
for delayed enrollment of bills which ex-
ceed committee allocations. I believe that
a somewhat stronger provision should be
included in the Budget Act itself.

In the case of the Appropriations Com-
mittee. I would favor making the point
of order lie against individual subcom-
mittee allocations. Otherwise, the Sen-
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ate can be faced with situations In which

the last bill out of Appropriations runs

the totals appropriated considerably over

the budget, but the feasibility of making

the committee live within its total simply

does not exist because the last bill con-

cerns defense or other essential spending.

ENTITLEMENT PROCRAM EXEMPTIONS

I propose that, so far as possible, we

get rid of special provisions on entitle-

ment programs so that there Is more

adequate budgetary control over these.

For example, there Is no requirement
under section 402(a) that entitlement

bills be reported by May 15. I do not see

why Congress should not discipline the

timetable on entitlement programs so

that it can see early in the year the

potential spending increases for both en-

titlements and appropriated programs.
Indeed, social security bills are totally

exempt from the May 15 reporting date,

even if they deal with nonentitlement

programs, so long as they contain some
entitlement features. (Section 402 (e>

(2)).
Section 401(d)(1)(A) exempts social

security bills from the requirement that

bills which would exceed committee al-

locations be referred to the Appropria-
tions Committee. I see no reason for that

exemption. On the contrary, it seems to

me to hold potential for considerable

mischief.

Finally, section 401(a) leaves a wide-

open path for entitlements to be timed so

as to totally evade control by the budget
process. For example, there is no im-

pediment under section 401 to enactment
between January 1 and May 15 of a cal-

endar year of entitlement legislation

having an effective date of October 1 of

the same year—even though no budget
resolution is yet in place. Likewise, there

is no impediment at any time to enact-

ment of entitlement legislation creating

spending in future years. Clearly. Con-

gress needs to strengthen its institutional

capacity to resist increases in entitlement

spending.
CONFERENCE REPORTS ON BUDGET RESOLUTION

Both the Senate and House Parlia-

mentarians have ruled that conference

agreements on budget resolutions which
contain any numbers that are "outside

the range" of the position of the two
Houses going into conference must be

reported in technical disagreement. This
makes the conference reports subject to

amendment on the floor of the Senate.
The act should be amended to provide
that only the budget aggregates—rev-

enues, budget authority, outlays, deficit—
and not the numbers for each function,
must be within the range of differences
between the Houses in order for there to

be a full conference agreement. This
change will reduce the potential for de-
lays and brinksmanship between the two
Houses over conflicting priorities.

CBO COST ESTIMATES FOR CONFERENCE REPORTS

ON SPENDING BELLS

Experience has shown that we need to

amend section 403 to require that up-
dated CBO cost estimates be included in

conference reports on spending bills. As
we all know, bills are frequently rewrit-
ten extensively in conference. The Con-
gress is still acting on conference reports

without carefully-developed cost esti-

mates on the final bills. This should be

remedied as quickly as possible.

EVASION OP MAY 15 REPORTING DEADLINES

There is a serious loophole in the May
15 deadline for reporting authorization

bills. Committees are increasingly adopt-

ing the practice of filing incomplete bills,

and even dummy bills, to satisfy the

formal requirement. They then rely on
committee floor amendments, often ac-

cepted without real debate, to clean up
the bills. This practice should be stopped
before it spreads. One way to do it would

be to provide a point of order against

committee amendments. Another possi-

bility would be to require amendments to

be offered by the committee, or by Sen-

ators signing the reports, to be printed
and summarized in the Record at least

3 days before the bill is considered.

TWO-TEAR BUDGETS, AUTHORIZATIONS AND
APPROPRIATIONS

For the longer run. I think we must
start working to get the Congress on a

2-year fiscal period. There is simply too

much time pressure associated with the

1-year fiscal period for effective oversight

to be done and other aspects of congres-

sional decisionmaking to be carried out

efficiently. I am pleased that Senator

Baker, out incoming majority leader, has

expressed serious interest in this funda-
mental change. Senator Bumpers and
others have also recommended that the

Congress "un jam" its calendar and in-

crease time for program oversight by
moving to a biennial cycle for most

money decisions.

CONFORMANCE OF BUDGET AND APPROPRIATIONS
SUBDIVISIONS OF THE BUDGET

I have been an advocate of the adop-
tion for appropriation purposes of the

functional divisions used in the executive

branch and congressional budgets. It is

clear that a great deal of confusion exists

because of the use in the appropriation
process of the traditional 13 bills orga-
nized by departments and agencies, while

the budget process uses a "functions and
missions" approach.

I have had some second thoughts on
this recently, however, and am no longer
certain that it would be wise to put the

two processes on the same information
base. If the allocations/crosswalking

process can be strengthened and become
better understood, and if points of order
can be made available to help enforce
the allocations, this might be a better

course than the one I earlier idvocated.

RESCISSIONS AND DEFERRALS

A careful review should be made of ex-

perience to date under title X, the im-

poundment control provisions. One prob-
lem that needs attention is the present
"all or nothing" situation on deferrals. I

believe it is essential to provide a simple

procedure under which Congress can

approve part of a deferral proposed by
the President when it decides not to go

along with an entire proposed deferral.

TECHNICAL CHANGES

There are a couple of aspects of the

timetable set forth in the Budget Act
that simply have proven unworkable.

One of these is the date for the submis-
sion of the President's current services

estimates. By agreement with the Budget
Committees, OMB began about 3 years
ago to submit these estimates in January
as part of the President's budget submis-
sion. This was essential because the
President's economic forecast is not
available in November when the Budget
Act says the current services estimates
are to be submitted. Therefore, the prob-
lem quickly arose of the current services
estimates being submitted on a different
economic base than was used in prepar-
ing the budget proposals submitted in

January. The switch in timing of the cur-
rent services estimates has caused no
problems and should be included In the
Budget Act.

Likewise, the CBO annual reports and
economic forecasts are now submitted to
the Budget Committees in January or

February rather than in April as pro-
jected in the Budget Act. The Budget
Committees simply must have this mate-
rial earlier than the Budget Act provides
in order for it to be used in preparations
for markup of the first budget resolution.

Mr. President, I thank you and my
other colleagues for your time. I hope
these comments will be useful to those
who conduct the examination of the

Budget Act to which Congress is now
committed.

INTHE PRIME TTME PROGRAM
RHODE ISLAND

Mr. PELL. Mr. President. I would like

to take this opportunity to recognize the
innovative and successful humanities
program for senior citizens that is

operating under the direct'on of the Na-
tional Council on Aging through a grant
from the National Endowment for the
Humanities. I would also like my col-

leagues to be aware of a program in my
own State of Rhode Island that is based

upon the National Council on Aging's
model.
The program in Rhode Island is called

"prime time." It is dedicated to the
social and cultural nourishment of senior

citizens and, from all reports, has ex-

panded the lives of its participants.
Drime time is based upon the assumption
that education and the arts are relevant
to older people and that they can make
a significant contribution to the cultural

heritage of our country.
As chairman of the Subcommittee on

Education. Arts and the Humanities. I

cannot think of a program more deserv-

ing of support. The prime time program
in Rhode Island is open to all seniors and
anyone else interested in finding out
more about it. It began as a discussion

group in the tradition of the English
coffeehouses. Prime time has continued
to grow and now regularly hears from
guest speakers on topics ranging from
social security to the cost of higher edu-
cation.

I am delighted with the popularity of

this program and hope that it will con-
tinue to expand. I have long been con-
cerned that the words "senior citizen"

conjure up thoughts of Inactivity and re-

tirement. Ironically, however, in school
seniors are usually the most informed,
active and productive individuals. I hope
that ouncountry's attitude about seniors



75

108 THE ECONOMIC AND BUDGET OUTLOOK January 1993

Table B-3.

Sources of Differences Between Actual Budget Totals and First

Budget Resolution Estimates for Fiscal Years 1 980-1 992 (In billions of dollars)

1980

1981

1982

1983

1984

1985

1986

1987

1988

1989

1990

199H
1992

Average Difference

Average Absolute Difference

1980

1981

1982

1983

1984

1985

1986

1987

1988

1989

1990

1991*

1992

Average Difference

Average Absolute Difference

1980

1981

1982

1983

1984

1985

1986

1987

1988

1989

1990

1991

1992

Average Difference

Average Absolute Difference

Policy
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STATEMENT OF HONORABLE JOHN JOSEPH MOAKLEY, CHAIRMAN
HOUSE COMMITTEE ON RULES

JOINT COMMITTEE ON THE ORGANIZATION OF CONGRESS,
MARCH 30, 1993

BUDGET REFORM

The House Committee on Rules has a special responsibility under House Rule

X, clause 3(i), to exercise on-going oversight of the congressional budget

process. The principal law within the Committee's purview is the Congressional

Budget and Impoundment Control Act of 1974. The committee also has

jurisdiction over budget process related provisions found in part C of the

Balanced Budget and Emergency Deficit Control Act of 1985, and the Budget
Enforcement Act of 1980.

In light of the Joint Committee's intensive examination of the budget process

this past month, I would like to share my thoughts on the issue of budget

process reform with the Joint Committee. Let me preface my comments by

saying that despite the numerous proposals to change or "fix" the budget

process, I firmly believe the problem is more one of mindset than flawed

procedure or process.

I'm not a fan of budgeting on automatic pilot, of mechanical formulas and

across-the-board cuts. To me, the federal budget is a human, political

document; a value statement; an expression of what we think is important, of

where we think the nation should put its money and where we should cut back.

Bottom line, a budget makes choices. Sequestration is the very antithesis of

making choices and being held accountable.

Having said that, I will tell you the Budget Enforcement Act (BEA) works. It

works because it enforces a deficit reduction plan, it does not try to write one.

It has kept discretionary spending in the bounds we established and reined in

our appetite for new spending. The threat of targeted sequestration forces us to

pay as we go for new entitlements, for liberalizations of existing entitlements,

and for tax giveaways. In effect, we do not allow new policy to overrun the

limits we set in 1990.

Gramm-Rudman was a very different approach. Because Gramm-Rudman

sought to force the enactment of future reductions, it failed and failed miserably.
With Gramm-Rudman, we tried to prescribe annual deficit targets reaching a

balanced budget within 5 years. We tried to use an automated mechanism to
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mindlessly do our budgeting for us or at least to force us to make better

budgets. No process can instill the will to do the right thing. If we didn't

already know that, Gramm-Rudman taught us that lesson.

The Budget Enforcement Act, on the other hand, simply and effectively enforces

existing budget decisions. The purpose is to constrain new spending. The BEA
process prevents future policy decisions from overturning the deficit reductions

made elsewhere in the 1990 reconciliation bill. The BEA keeps us headed in

the right direction; it does not try to impose a new direction on us.

As Robert Reischauer recently testified before you, summing up the lessons of

20 years of congressional budget process: "Budget procedures are much better at

enforcing compliance with previous decisions (in this case a deficit reduction

agreement) than at simultaneously specifying both a predetermined outcome and

its enforcement."

I support an extension of the BEA, in order to insure that this year's deficit

reduction efforts — the permanent changes in spending laws and the tax

increases we will make in reconciliation — are not frittered away with new

spending projects in the coming years.

There is some technical cleaning up that I would urge we do if we extend the

BEA process. We've had several years of experience now and I think we can

tighten up and improve, at the margin, the 1990 Act. There were a number of

drafting errors, for example, the tenn "budget authority" is defined twice with a

slightly different definition in each place. There are procedures, for example

dealing with what to do in a period of low growth, that are ambiguous. There

are some areas where we could improve the mesh between the Budget Act and

existing House rules and some places we missed in standardizing language. But

these are small changes.

To conclude, I am hopeful. For whatever it is worth, I sense a new seriousness

about real deficit reduction, reflected most recently in the House debate on the

investment/stimulus supplemental appropriation. It strikes me as most unusual

that we used a 5-year deficit reduction budget package, with $63 billion in

additional spending cuts, as the sweetener to pass a spending bill. If that's not a

sea of change in congressional attihides, I don't know what is.
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